

VILNIUS UNIVERSITY

LIFE SCIENCES CENTER

INSTITUTE OF BIOCHEMISTRY

The master program in Neurobiology, 2nd year student

Ashwinipriyadarshini Megur

Master thesis

Targeting microbiota-gut-brain axis in Alzheimer's disease in a dietinduced obesity model in mice

Thesis supervisor:

Dr. Aurelijus Burokas

Vilnius 2020

Project prepared at Biological Models Department, Institute of Biochemistry, Life Sciences Center, Vilnius University

Ashwinipriyadarshini Megur

Supervisor: Dr. Aurelijus Burokas

Acknowledgements

First and foremost I would like to thank my parents for supporting my choices and encouraging me to accomplish my dreams, without them I would have lost my positive approach towards life. Secondly, I would like to thank dr. Aurelijus Burokas for giving me the opportunity to work under his supervision. His guidance and encouragement during the entire course of my work, as well as his vast knowledge have been invaluable. A special thanks to dr. Virginija Bukelskienė, head of the department of Biological Models and the animal facility for encouraging me in every single step of my experiment with positivity. I am very grateful to PhD students Akshay Kumar Vijaya and Jonas Mingaila for their help to perform animal experiments.

Many thanks to dr. Rokas Buišas for welcoming me with open arms in the group, sharing thoughts and problems, and his assistance during so many experiments. Furthermore, I would like to thank Viktoras Mažeika for his delightful attitude and consistent motivation. Also thanks to Shamish Ganpule, Tarun Sreeramulu and Shiva Balan Arun Prabha for sharing their knowledge.

Warm thanks to Egidijus Šimoliūnas, Ieva Rinkūnaitė and Milda Alksnė who introduced me to the laboratory work, helped me with statistical data analysis and always had a sympathetic ear for my questions and worries.

I also would like to thank Vilnius University, Life Sciences Center, the Institute of Biochemistry and the Master program "Neurobiology" for giving me the opportunity to carry out my thesis. I am grateful to all the colleagues of the Life Sciences Center and everyone who was involved in the Master program for their advice and support.

To my best friend, Madhoo Salunkhe, you are the best motivator and a honest person who always stood by my side and helped me in difficult situations.

Last but not least, I want to thank my sister, Amritavarshini Megur, for her love and infinite support, words cannot describe my gratitude to you!

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABBREVIATIONS	8
INTRODUCTION	9
1. LITERATURE REVIEW	11
1.1. AD and dementia association	11
1.2. Development of AD	12
1.3. Pathology of AD	13
1.4. The effects of the gut microbiota on the brain	17
1.5. The microbiota-gut-brain axis	20
1.6. Neuro-inflammatory processes	24
1.7. The role of gut microbiota in inflammation and diabetes	27
1.8. AD and obesity models in mice	30
2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	32
2.1. Animals	32
2.2. Study design	32
2.3. Food and prebiotic administration	33
2.4. Glucose tolerance test	33
2.5. Open field test for locomotor activity	33
2.6. Running wheel test	34
2.7. Cognition	34
2.8. Social V- Maze	35
3. RESULTS	37
3.1. Body weight	37
3.2. GTT	
3.3.1. Latency to enter into the center	40

3.3.2. Percentage of time spent in the center	40
4. DISCUSSION	
4.1. HF diet effect on body weight and GTT	
4.2. Long term memory impairment and anxiety	
4.3. Obese mice response to physical activity	
4.4. Sociability of obese mice	
CONCLUSIONS	60
REFERENCES	61
SUMMARY	
SANTRAUKA	80

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Aβ Formation	14
Figure 2. Comparison of microtubule in healthy neuron and diseased neuron.	16
Figure 3. Comparison of healthy neuron with diseased neuron	17
Figure 4. Bidirectional brain-gut-microbiome interactions related to serotonin	
signalling.	22
Figure 5. Experimental schedule during the 9 months of diet-induced obesity protocol.	32
Figure 6. Demonstration of the V maze for Nobel Object Recognition Test.	35
Figure 7. Scheme of the sociability and preference for social novelty test.	36
Figure 8. Body weight Males.	37
Figure 9. Body weight females	38
Figure 10. Glucose Tolerance Test (9 Months Males)	39
Figure 11. Glucose Tolerance Test (9 Months females)	40
Figure 12. Latency to enter center Males	41
Figure 13. Latency to enter center females	42
Figure 14. OF time in center males	43
Figure 15. OF time in center females	44
Figure 16. Nobel Object recognition test (24 h) Males	46
Figure 17. Nobel Object recognition test (24 h) females	47
Figure 18. Running wheel test total number of rotation males	49

6

Figure 19. Running wheel test total number of rotation females	50
Figure 20. Running wheel test during day time Males	51
Figure 21. Running wheel test during day time females	52
Figure 22. SVM Mouse vs. Object	54
Figure 23. SVM Stranger mouse vs. Familiar mouse	55

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. The role of microorganisms residing in the gut and key players in gut-brain axis.19Table 2. Case study of microorganisms mainly found in AD patients and transgenic mice.23Table 3. Different microorganisms playing an important role in formation of metabolites in the26

ABBREVIATIONS

- **AD** Alzheimer's disease
- APP Amyloid precursor Protein
- **A** β Amyloid-β
- FOS Fructooligosaccharides
- GIT Gastrointestinal tract
- GOS Galactooligosaccharides
- **GTT** Glucose Tolerance Test
- HF High-fat
- **NFT -** Neurofibrillary tangles
- OF Open Field
- SCFAs Short chain fatty acids
- SVM Social V- Maze
- T1D- Type 1 Diabetes
- T2DM- Type 2 Diabetes mellitus

INTRODUCTION

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is the most common form of dementia. The onset of this neurodegenerative disease affects life quality of both the individuals and their families, and large amounts of resources and money are spent in caring for people with AD. Approximately 35.6 million people of the world population are living with dementia and there has been a gradual increase each year, with estimated numbers doubling by 2030 and more than tripling by 2050 (Jack et al. 2011). This has led the World Health Organization to raise awareness of dementia as a public health priority. Despite increasing research in this field, the exact cause of AD is still poorly understood and existing treatments are very limited to symptomatic treatments. Although AD usually affects people at the age older than 65 years, the disease is not a normal part of ageing. Despite being rare, the early-onset AD can also affect people at younger age. Genetic factors, such as inheritance of the apolipoprotein E gene, i.e., the most common susceptibility gene in human AD, are neither necessary nor sufficient for development of AD. Also, ageing and genetic risk factors do not completely explain the globally rapid increase in AD prevalence, which might instead be explained by additional environmental influences. Understanding the initial triggers for AD pathology is needed for the development of preventive or therapeutic approaches for AD (Veitch et al. 2019).

Over the past decades researchers have revealed that the commensal gut microbiota and its metabolites play a crucial role in host health, including metabolism, physiology, nutrition, immune and barrier functions (Bostanciklioğlu 2019). More recently, its impact on brain functions and behaviour had also been revealed (Quigley 2017). This has emerged within the concept of gut microbiota-gut-brain axis, a bidirectional communication between the gut and the brain. A number of studies observed that specific groups of gut microbiota are associated with the development of brain-related disorders, such as autism spectrum disorder, Parkinson's disease and multiple sclerosis (Westfall et al. 2017) . These further emphasize the possible involvement of the gut microbiota in neurodegenerative diseases, including AD (Ling Zhang et al. 2017). Yet the research regarding the role of the gut microbiota on AD is still in its early stages.

The gut microbiota and their hosts have long co-evolved and shared substrates for growth. The establishment of the gut microbial community occurs during the first few years of life (R. Liu et al. 2017).. Westernization of the diet i.e., increased intake of refined foods rich in saturated

fat and low in dietary fibre, is an important factor giving rise in the prevalence of metabolic syndrome, which is also associated with dementia (Holm-Hansen et al. 2016). In human and pre-clinical models, unhealthy high-fat (HF) diets have been shown to cause an imbalanced community of the gut microbiota (Veniaminova et al. 2020). This may suggest the interactions between the gut microbiota, metabolic and neurodegenerative disorders.

Apart from understanding the exact mechanisms mediating the involvement of the gut microbiota in metabolic and neurodegenerative disorders, the current challenge is also to understand what a healthy gut microbiota is composed of and how to achieve a balanced gutbrain communication via gut microbiota manipulation.

Studies included in this thesis expand existing knowledge regarding the role of the gut microbiota on host metabolism, brain function and behaviour, with special focuses on metabolic risk factors and AD. Dietary strategies for gut microbiota manipulation in rodent models were evaluated. The knowledge acquired here suggests possible strategies for optimizing the existing and future preventive, as well as therapeutic approaches toward metabolic and neurodegenerative diseases.

Aim of the thesis - To find bacterial strains of microbiota that can reduce inflammation and the development of AD under the diabetic conditions.

Objectives:

- To validate a diet-induced diabetes leading to AD model in mice.
- To analyse the anxiety like behaviour, cognition, social behaviour and physical activity in the diet-induced obesity in mice administrated with prebiotics.
- To assess whether a long-term mice dietary intervention altering the gut microbiota, is responsible for memory impairment.

1. LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1. AD and dementia association

Dementia is studied to be a syndrome that affects memory and other cognitive functions to the extent that it interferes with daily function. There are many circumstances that can provoke this syndrome, including neurodegenerative disorders cerebrovascular disease, brain injury, and certain infections (Alkasir et al. 2017).

Dementia systems mainly includes decline in memory and decline in at least one of the following cognitive abilities:

- Ability to generate proper speech or to understand spoken or written languages;
- To identify objects, assuming intact sensory function;
- To perform motor activities, sensory function, and comprehension of the required task
- Ability to think clearly, to make sound judgments, and execute a complex task.

The decline in cognitive abilities must be severe enough to interfere with daily life to confirm the patient's condition (Gaugler et al. 2016a).

The prevalence of dementia is rapidly increasing in developed countries because of social and demographic changes. This trend is expected to worsen in the coming decades, with the number of cases possibly even tripling in the next 25 years (Rodríguez-Gómez et al. 2019). AD is the most common cause of dementia (Gaugler et al. 2016b).

AD described the long-term study of the female patient Auguste D., whom Alois Alzheimer had observed and investigated at the Frankfurt Psychiatric Hospital in November 1901. On November 3, 1906, a clinical psychiatrist and neuroanatomist, Alois Alzheimer, reported "A peculiar severe disease process of the cerebral cortex" (Stelzmann, Norman Schnitzlein, and Reed Murtagh 1995)to the 37th Meeting of South-West German Psychiatrists in Tübingen (Dage et al. 2017). Also, it is proved that females are much more prone to get AD as compared to males (Evans et al. 2011).

AD has become one of the major diseases that threatening the health of elder people in modern society, affecting at least 27 million people and corresponding from 60% to 70% of all dementias cases (Frigerio et al. 2019; Silva et al. 2019). The age is the main associated risk factor and the age of 65 years is used to distinguished AD patients with an early-onset or late-onset form. It is likely that diverse factors contribute to the pathogenesis of late-onset AD (Spires-Jones and Hyman 2014).

AD can affect vast number of people in different ways, but the most common symptoms pattern starts with a gradual worsening difficulty in remembering new information. This is because disruption of neuron usually takes place in regions which are involved in forming new memories. As damage spreads, individuals experience various other difficulties. The following are alarming signs of AD:

- Memory loss that makes daily life more difficult.
- Challenges faced during planning a task or solving problems.
- Difficulty in completing familiar tasks at home.
- Confusion with time or place.
- Trouble understanding visual images and relationships.
- Problems with words in speaking or writing in native.
- Misplacing things and losing the ability to retrace them back.
- Poor judgment in difficult conditions.
- Withdrawal from social activities.
- Changes personality and stability.

Dementia due to AD is characterized by memory, thinking, and behavioural symptoms that impair a person's ability to function in daily life and that are caused by AD-related brain changes (Reitz and Mayeux 2014; Ding et al. 2019; J. Yang et al. 2019).

1.2. Development of AD

Numerous factors contribute to one's likelihood of developing AD (Terry 2006). The biggest risk factor for AD is aging. Most people diagnosed by AD are from the range of 65 or older. However, it is studies that some people younger than 65 age can also develop the disease, although this a rare case. Aging is not the only known risk factor for AD, there are many more

factors responsible as well (Mathay et al. 2017; R. Liu et al. 2017). It has been implied that AD is a complex multifactorial disorder, with many proposed theories as to the cause of AD, including:

- exacerbation of aging (Crous-Bou et al. 2017),
- degeneration of anatomical pathways, which includes the cholinergic and corticocortical pathways (A Armstrong 2018),
- an environmental factor such as exposure to aluminium, severe head injury (Colomina and Peris-Sampedro 2017),
- genetic factors including mutations of amyloid precursor protein (APP) and presenilin genes (Fenoglio et al. 2018),
- mitochondrial dysfunction in neurons (Wilkins and Swerdlow 2016),
- a compromised blood brain barrier (Cai et al. 2018),
- a dysfunction in immune system (Calsolaro and Edison 2016; Albensi 2019),
- infectious agents (Sochocka, Zwolińska, and Leszek 2017).

There is no cure yet found for AD and new therapeutic agents need to be discovered to cure this particular disease (Dage et al. 2017).

1.3. Pathology of AD

Characterization of AD is done by loss of neurons and synapses in the cerebral cortex and certain subcortical regions, also widening of cerebral sulci and ventricular dilatation is observed (Fjell et al. 2014). These atrophy is also marked as the medial temporal lobe with initial changes in the entorhinal cortex (functions as a hub in a widespread network for memory, navigation and the perception of time) (Moodley and Chan 2014) and subsequently the hippocampus; as hippocampus plays an important role in memory formation, learning and remembering the events (String et al. 2010). The neuropathological hallmarks of AD include extracellular β -amyloid plaques and intracellular neurofibrillary tangles (NFT) when tested histochemically (X. Hu, Wang, and Jin 2016).

In maximum cases of early-onset AD derive from a combination of genetic mutations in genes encoding APP and presenilins 1 and 2 (Janelidze et al. 2016). APP which is cleavage by β and

 γ secretase complexes leads to the formation of amyloid- β (A β) peptides that can aggregate and form amyloid plaques outside the cell (Serý et al. 2013) (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Aβ Formation

- 1. The APP present on the cell membrane of the neuron cleave for α -secretase which results in the formation of two soluble aggregate which can be digested by the microglial cells
- 2. When APP is cleaved by β -secretase and γ -secretase due to APP mutations and PSEN1/PSEN2 mutation it leads to formation of A β , insoluble aggregates.
- 3. These $A\beta$ aggregates are insoluble and starts to aggregate outside the neuron
- 4. These aggregates are sticky in nature and can cause plaque in the brain which can be examined histochemical techniques.
- 5. These plaques are the confirmation of AD and are one of the major hallmarks of AD. These aggregates intrust in neuron signalling and also triggers the formation of another hallmark of AD – tau protein aggregation forming NFT.

These A β peptides are mainly composed of the 42 amino acid peptides, which is less abundant but more are prone to aggregation than the A β 1–40 peptides (Weller and Budson 2018; Hane, Lee, and Leonenko 2017). Amyloid deposits and NFT, which comprises hyper phosphorylated tau (τ) protein (Figure 2), are the most important pathologic hallmarks of AD (Saha and Sen 2019). Plaques formed are very dense, and mostly insoluble beta amyloid peptide and cellular material outside and around the neurons (Mroczko et al. 2018). NFT are aggregates of the microtubule-associated protein tau, which has become hyperphosphorylated and accumulate inside the cells (A Armstrong 2018).

Hence, AD is a progressive neurodegenerative syndrome associated with the accumulation of proteinaceous misfolded A β fibrils and oligomers, together with neurofibrillary tangles consisting of hyper-phosphorylated tau protein, in the cerebral cortex and other brain regions (Bonfili et al. 2017) (Figure 3). Tau is the most important microtubule associated protein of a normal mature neuron, alternative splicing of its pre-mRNA generates six molecular τ isoforms in human brain (Ding et al. 2019).

Preclinical studies for AD have been crucial in establishing a causal role of the commensal gut microbiota in shaping brain function and behaviour (Fröhlich et al. 2016). Comprising trillions of symbiotic microorganisms, the gut microbiota is an essential element for the maintenance of the host's health (Giau et al. 2018). The gut microbiota residing organisms can form amyloid polymers which can trigger to AD progression (X. Hu, Wang, and Jin 2016).





b) In healthy neurons the tau protein binds to the microtubules and helps in stabilization. In AD patients, the tau protein which helps in stabilization of microtubules gets hyperphosphorylated and accumulates inside the neurons.

16



Figure 3. Comparison of healthy neuron with diseased neuron. Diseased neurons have $A\beta$ plaques aggregated outside where they interfere in the signal responses in the brain. Neurofibrillary tangles disturbs the neuron structure where the neuron gets weak and cannot be active as a healthy neuron hence resulting in neuron death.

1.4. The effects of the gut microbiota on the brain

Mammals live in a coevolutionary association with huge quantities of commensal microorganisms resident on the exposed and internal surfaces of their bodies (Burokas et al. 2015). Microbiota, the ecological community of commensal, symbiotic and pathogenic

microorganisms in our body, has important regulatory functions in health and disease (de J.R. De-Paula, Forlenza, and Forlenza 2018). Comprising trillions of symbiotic microorganisms, the gut microbiota is an essential element for the maintenance of the host's health (Giau et al. 2018). Accumulating evidence from both clinical and basic medical research is driving our increased awareness of the significance of the human microbiota in maintaining a healthy CNS (Mayer et al. 2014) (Table 1). The Gastrointestinal Tract (GIT) is inhabited with numerous microorganisms, a figure thought to be 1.5 times that of the number of human cells in our bodies and 150 times as many genes as our genome (Martin et al. 2018). The gut microbiota plays a fundamental role in the modulation of the bidirectional signalling underlying the gutbrain axis (Giau et al. 2018). The brain-gut axis reflects the bidirectional, constant communication between the CNS and the GIT. There is also a growing body of evidence that the intestinal microbiota influences the brain-gut interactions in different points of time (from early life to neurodegeneration), as well as at different levels (from the gut lumen to the CNS) (Kowalski, Mulak, and Words 2019).

The gut microbiota is defined as the microbial community found within the gut. This microbial ecosystem is an essential endocrine "organ" involved in critical functions such as influencing metabolism and the absorption of food, providing trophic and protective functions, instructing innate immunity, and acting as a dynamic filter of environmental exposure in the host (Ratto et al. 2018). The initial scepticism about reports suggesting a profound role of an intact gut microbiota in shaping brain neurochemistry and emotional behaviour has given way to an unprecedented paradigm shift in the conceptualization of many psychiatric and neurological diseases.(Mayer et al. 2014) A bidirectional communication between the brain and gut exists that is referred to as the microbiota-gut-brain axis (Burokas et al. 2015). Gut microbiota is a complex system of microorganisms showing an unequal distribution from the mouth to the anus and covering several biological functions (Franceschi et al. 2019).

Humans have long considered the contents of the bowels as mere waste products, rather than a diverse and vital community whose intimate interactions with the body impact us on multiple levels (Tillisch, 2014). The microbiota-gut-brain axis reflects the bidirectional, constant communication between the CNS and the GIT. The human GIT, containing 95% of the human microbiota, harbours a genetically diverse microbial population that plays major roles in nutrition, digestion, neurotrophism, inflammation, growth, immunity and protection against foreign pathogens (Martin et al. 2018).

Sr. No	Organism	Increase/ Decrease	Role	Reference
1.	Bacteroides fragilis	↑	 Protect against Central nerves system demyelinating disease In pregnant mice showed an immediate significant diminished autistic behaviour. 	(Cerovic, Forloni, and Balducci 2019) (Ochoa-Repáraz and Kasper 2018) (Colpitts et al. 2017)
2.	Lactobacillus casei	1	Decrease in anxiety symptoms	(Rao et al. 2009)
4.	Lactobacillus rhamnosus	1	 Increases anxiolytic behaviour Ameliorate the inflammation level in the brain. 	(Bravo et al. 2012) (Bravo et al. 2011) O'Mahony et al., 2005)
5.	Streptococcus thermophilus	Ŷ	 Robust effect on activity in the brain regions that control central processing of emotion and sensation. Degradation of Aβ 42 load. 	(Bonfili et al. 2017)
6.	Campylobacter jejuni	1	Induces anxiety-like behaviour	(Lyte et al. 2006)
7.	Campylobacter rodentium	1	Leads to stress and contribute to behavioural abnormalities	(Gareau et al. 2011)
8.	Porphyromonas gingivalis	1	Causes inflammatory response in liver, which subsequently leads to	(Bonfili et al. 2017)

Table 1. The role of microorganisms residing in the gut and key players in gut-brain axis.

			neuroinflammation and cause neurodegenerative disease.	
9.	Eubacterium rectale	\downarrow	leads to amyloidosis	(Cattaneo et al. 2017)
10.	Lactobacillus acidophilus	1	Improves the impairment in neural proteolysis	(Bonfili et al. 2017)
11	Lactobacillus johnsonii	1	Improves gastric vagus nerve activity	(Tanida et al. 2005)
12	Bacillus subtilis	↑	Produce extracellular amyloid fibres	(Vogt et al. 2017)

More recently, the importance of gut microbiota has raised attention of researchers in the fields of neurochemistry, neurophysiology and neuropsychiatry, based on consistent pieces of evidence of the relationship between gut microbiota and brain homeostasis and subsequent implications of the disruption of gut microbiota to the pathogenesis of brain diseases. The composition of gut microbiota in humans has been found to be related to several medical diseases, including obesity (Ley et al. 2006) diabetes (Qin et al. 2012), asthma (Mennini et al. 2017), inflammatory GIT (Z. Liu, Cao, and Cong 2013) and other autoimmune diseases (Wu and Wu 2012).

1.5. The microbiota-gut-brain axis

The recognition of the human microbiota as a substantial contributor to nutrition, health and disease is a relatively recent one, and currently, peer- reviewed studies linking alterations in microbiota to the etiopathology of human disease are few (Hill et al. 2014). The term "microbiota-gut-brain axis" refers to a crosstalk between the brain and the gut involving multiple overlapping pathways, including the autonomic, neuroendocrine, vagus nerve, the immune system, or the metabolic processes of gut microorganisms and immune systems as well as bacterial metabolites and neuromodulatory molecules (Luca et al. 2019; R. Liu et al. 2017). The bidirectional signalling between the GIT and the brain is vital for maintaining homeostasis and is regulated at the neural (both central and enteric nervous systems), hormonal and immunological levels (Figure 4). Interest in the potential involvement of gut microbiota in brain function emerged, in part, due to the well-described pathways of communication between

the brain and the GIT which has been heavily studied in the area of food intake, satiety and the regulation of the digestive tract.

The gut microbiota assists a number of everyday functions in the brain, including the regulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis activation state. The release of cortisol as a result of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis activation can in turn govern the activation state of brain microglia, and effect cytokine release as well as attracting of monocytes from the periphery to the brain (H. X. Wang and Wang 2016). They also can rule actions in the periphery and CNS by various means of communication including vagal nerve and adrenergic nerve activation as well as producing several molecular candidates such as neurotransmitters, neuropeptides, endocrine hormones and immune-modulators (Ferrari 2019).

Host stress hormones such as noradrenaline, which might affect bacterial activities or signalling between bacteria, may change the microbial diversity and actions of the gut microbiota. However, these bacteria are capable of synthesizing and releasing many neurotransmitters and neuromodulators themselves, or evoke the synthesis and release of neuropeptides from enter endocrine cells.



Figure 4. –Bidirectional brain-gutmicrobiome interactions related to serotonin signalling.

Enterochromaffin cells (shown in green) contain more than 90% of the body's serotonin. Serotonin syn-thesis in ECCs is modulated by SCFAs produced by spore forming. Clostridiales, which increase their stimulatory actions on ECCs with increased dietary tryptophan availability. ECCs communicate with afferent nerve fibers through synapse like connections between neuropod like extensions and afferent nerve terminals. The autonomic nervous system can activate ECCs to release serotonin into the gut lumen, where it can interact with gut microbes. TPH1, tryptophan hydroxylase type 1; 5-HT, serotonin.

Some microorganisms from the microbiota were associated with AD (Table 2). Moreover, microbiota of aged individuals with AD was found to have a lower level of bacteria producing butyrate (Rieder et al. 2017). With decreased butyrate levels, individuals with AD could then suffer from increased inflammation in the brain and the progression of cognitive loss. Butyrate production also is believed to enhance sleep and as a result may be beneficial in this capacity on cognition (Maiese 2019).

Dysfunction in the microbiota-gut-brain axis was investigated in irritable bowel syndrome, inflammatory bowel disease, depression, and anxiety, as well as neurodevelopmental disorders such as autism, Parkinson's disease, and AD (Schwabe et al. 2013).

Sr.no	Microorganisms		Organism	Location	Reference
1.	Firmicutes /Actinobacteria	\downarrow	CONVR-APP/PS1	GIT	(Westfall et al. 2017)(Salminen et al. 1998)
2.	Bacteroides/ tenericutes	1	mice		
3.	E.coli / B. subtilis	1	AD patient with irritable bowel syndrome	Stool	(Alkasir et al. 2017)(Salazar et al. 2014)(Asti and Gioglio 2014)
4.	E. rectale	\downarrow			
5.	Escherichia/ shigella	1	AD patient	Stool	(Cattaneo et al. 2017)
6.	B.fragilis	\downarrow			
7.	Lactobacilli / Bifidobacteria	1	SAMP-8 mice	GIT	(Ma, Forsythe, and Bienenstock 2004)
8.	Fusobacteriaceae	\downarrow	AD patients	Stool	(Rajilić-Stojanović, Smidt, and
9.	Prevotellaceae	1		Stool	De Vos 2007)

Table 2. Case study of microorganisms mainly found in AD patients and transgenic mice.

Prebiotics are nondigestible food ingredients that selectively stimulate the growth of probiotic bacteria such as *Lactobacilli* and *Bifidobacteria* in the gut (Saulnier et al., 2013). Increasing the proportion of these bacteria with prebiotics such as galactooligosaccharides (GOS) or fructooligosaccharides (FOS) may have many beneficial effects on the gut, the immune system, and on brain function, providing initial support for further investigations of the utility of prebiotics in mental health and potential treatment of psychiatric disorders (Drakoularakou, Tzortzis, Rastall, & Gibson, 2010; Savignac et al., 2013; van Vlies et al., 2012; Vulevic, Drakoularakou, Yaqoob, Tzortzis, & Gibson, 2008). Recently, a study conducted on human has showed that subjects supplemented with GOS displayed a suppression of the neuroendocrine stress response and an increase in the processing of positive versus negative attentional vigilance, showing an early anxiolytic-like profile (Schmidt et al., 2014). Inulintype fructans and lactulose modulate gut transit, decrease putrefactive activity within the gut

lumen, prevent GI infections, and mitigate microbiota regulation of the microbiota-gut- brain axis inflammatory responses (Casellas et al., 2007; Lewis, Burmeister, & Brazier, 2005; de Preter et al., 2008).

1.6. Neuro-inflammatory processes

Although each of the aforementioned neurodegenerative diseases presents with unique cellular pathologies and clinical symptoms, there is one feature common to all these diseases: chronic neuroinflammation (R. Liu et al. 2017). The hallmark features of chronic neuroinflammation include over activation and dysregulation of the immune cells of the brain, the microglia. In a suitable normal homeostatic conditions, microglia remain in a resting state. In this state, microglia take on a ramified shape and continuously extend and retract their cellular processes in search of foreign invaders and pathological stimuli in their nearby environment. When microglia encounter pathological agents, or detect injury, they become activated and take on an amoeboid morphology (Lee et al. 2019). This change in activation status is associated with modifications in the expression pattern of many cell membrane receptors, such as complement receptors, major histocompatibility complex, CD11a, CD40, and CD80 molecules, all of which have important immune functions. Once activated, microglia also alter their secretory profile, by upregulating the release of several chemokines and cytokines, such as interferon $-\gamma$, tumour necrosis factor- α , interleukin-1 β , and interleukin IN-6, interleukin -8, Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein-1, as well as increase secretion of reactive oxygen species and reactive nitrogen species, all of which are secreted in aims of eliminating the noxious agents (Lin, Zheng, and Zhang 2018).

In AD, astrocyte and microglia activation has been observed, particularly in the brain regions containing higher concentration of A β plaques and NFTs (primarily the frontal cortex and hippocampus) (Cowan and Petri 2018). As compared to healthy controls, the brains of AD patients exhibit a high increase in interleukin -1 β and Tumour necrosis factor- α concentration, both cyclooxygenase -1 and -2 expression, and also an increase in 12-lipoxygenase, and 15-lipoxygenase expression (Roy Sarkar and Banerjee 2019). These findings indicate that AD patients exhibit prominent neuroinflammation in their CNS. In addition, concentrations of C-reactive protein, an inflammatory marker, are elevated approximately eight fold in the serum of AD patients (Erny, Hrabě de Angelis, and Prinz 2017). Its levels have been positively correlated with severity of cognitive decline in elderly individuals, indicating that the chronic

neuroinflammation observed in AD may represent a significant contributing factor to the defining symptoms of this disease (X. Hu, Wang, and Jin 2016).

Although it is likely the neuroinflammation that occurs in these diseases is initially triggered by the pathological formations in the brain, other aspects of the human immune system may also influence the neuroinflammation observed in these neurodegenerative diseases (Hill et al. 2014). Emerging evidence suggests that the composition of, and communication with, the gut microbiota may have a notable impact on modifying the neuroinflammation in these particular neurodegenerative disease states.

The microbiota has been linked to the CNS via different proposed communication pathways:

(1) bacterial metabolic products such as tryptophan and short chain fatty acids (SCFAs) and others (Table 3),

(2) innervation of the gut by the vagus nerve, and

(3) microbe-associated molecular patterns that drive inflammation (Erny, Hrabě de Angelis, and Prinz 2017).

The mechanism by which bacterial products or these microbes associated molecular patterns trigger an inflammatory response in the brain may include entry to the circumventricular organs, areas in the brain where the blood brain barrier is less tightly regulated. While these molecules are limited in their entry throughout the blood brain barrier (Johnston and Webster 2009), cells present at these "leaky" locations (i.e., microglia), may be poised to respond to blood-borne molecular signals, and in turn propagate inflammation in a wave across the parenchyma (L.M. and H.L. 2018). Alternatively, microglia may respond to cytokine-induced reactivation of cells forming the blood brain barrier-endothelial cells, astrocytes, pericytes, etc (Varatharaj and Galea 2017); or via selective transport systems across these cells. A neural route for the microbiota-gut-brain axis suggests that a basal level of immune activation in the gut acts on the vagal afferents innervating the viscera and transduces inflammatory information to the nucleus of the solitary tract, at the level of the brainstem (Z. Liu, Cao, and Cong 2013; Mayer et al. 2014). Low levels of cytokines may activate this route, even when circulating proinflammatory cytokines are not detectable. This vagal-centric model for understanding the microbiota-gut-brain-axis has not yet been approached from the angle of microglial development, activation, or function, and remains of interest to the field. Researchers classified activated microglia as a classic, proinflammatory M1 phenotype and others as a noninflammatory, alternative M2 phenotype.

Table 3. Different microorganisms playing an important role in formation of metabolite	5
in the human body.	

Sr.no	Gut microorganisms	Metabolites	References
1	Lactobacillus	SCFAs, Acetylcholine	(Alkasir et al. 2017) (Ma, Forsythe, and Bienenstock 2004)
2	Bifidobacterium	Gamma-aminobutyric acid	(Roy Sarkar and Banerjee 2019; Alkasir et al. 2017)
3	Escherichia	Dopamine, Norepinephrine, Endotoxin and Serotonin	(Lopes and Sourjik 2018)(Asano et al. 2012)
4	Bacillus	Dopamine, Acetylcholine and Noradrenaline	(Johnson and Foster 2018)
5	Saccharomyces	Norepinephrine	(Asano et al. 2012)
7	Enterococcus	Histamine, Serotonin	(de J.R. De-Paula, Forlenza, and Forlenza 2018)

Microglia express a complex sensome, and are capable of integrating and responding to signals in their environment, whether pathogen associated molecular patter, damage associated molecular patterns, or other secreted factors, by secreting pro-inflammatory cytokines including tumour necrosis factor- α , interleukin -1 β , and interleukin -6 hence showing the picture of M1 state (Ferreira et al. 2014). Secretion of the anti-inflammatory cytokines is the character of the M2 state, including IN 4, IN 10, IN 13, and transforming growth factor- β , with phagocytic capacity increased, where- as toxic nitric oxide produced not. These signalling features, their macrophage identity, and status as resident-CNS cells make microglia intriguing candidates for mediating the interactions between the host's microbiota and developing brain. Indeed, metabolic products from gut microbiota, as well as microbiota-induced peripheral immune products are capable of influencing microglial activity (Hanisch 2002; Cowan and Petri 2018; Grenham et al. 2011).

1.7. The role of gut microbiota in inflammation and diabetes

In the brain, astrocytes are the main energy reservoirs, accumulate glycogen, and help to sustain high-energy demands associated with neuronal activity. Astrocytes, present in the brain, play an essential role in long-term memory formation by converting glycogen into lactate and transporting it to the neurons (Salas and De Strooper 2018). Astrocytes express an insulinindependent glucose transporter, glucose transporter 1 protein (also known as solute carrier family 2); thus it has been believed that astrocytes take up glucose through the blood-brain barrier in an insulin-independent manner and convert the intracellular glucose to glucose-6phosphate and then store as glycogen (W. Li et al. 2018). The brain expresses mainly insulinindependent glucose transporter 1 (endothelial cells of brain blood barrier, astrocytes), (Salas and De Strooper 2018; W. Li et al. 2018; R. Li et al. 2019). Insulin controls not only wholebody energy and glucose homeostasis in the periphery of the human body but also exerts specific effects in the brain through insulin receptor and the closely related insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor (R. Li et al. 2019). Epidemiological studies have indicated that diabetic patients have an elevated risk of developing AD (Diehl, Mullins, and Kapogiannis 2017). It has been studied over the wide range of patients with diabetes (males as well as females) which confirms the risk of AD is more higher in females (Chatterjee et al. 2016).

Diabetes is a very complex metabolic disorder characterized by a rise in blood glucose levels due to an altered insulin production by pancreatic cells (Type 1) of the human body or an impaired insulin response (Type 2) (Salas and De Strooper 2018). It is becoming increasingly evident that the gut microbiota is contributing to many human diseases including diabetes both type 1 and type 2. The chronic hyperglycemia and insulin resistance found in diabetic patients is commonly associated with vascular complications which eventually lead to alterations in the kidney (nephropathy), retina (retinopathy) and peripheral nerves (neuropathy), among other problems (W. Li et al. 2018). Not surprisingly, besides the abnormalities in peripheral organs, diabetic patients also show structural and functional changes in the CNS.

Type 1 diabetes (T1D) is an autoimmune disease that is caused by the destruction of pancreatic β -cells by the immune system and T1D is a T cell-mediated autoimmune metabolic disease which is commonly seen in children and young adults although it can also be present in older adults (Y. Hu et al. 2018). The insulin-producing beta cells of the pancreatic islets are damaged

and destroyed by activated autoreactive T cells resulting in disordered blood glucose regulation. Even though T1D is mainly caused by genetic defect, epigenetic and environmental factors have been shown to play an important role in this disease. Higher rates of T1D incidence have been reported in recent years that are not explained by genetic factors and have been attributed to changes in our lifestyle such diet, hygiene, and antibiotic usage that can directly affect microbiota (Luca et al. 2019). It has been shown that diabetes incidence in the non-obese diabetic subjects or patients was significantly increased which is in line with the observation that the rates of T1D is higher in countries with stringent hygiene practices (Salas and De Strooper 2018). A common trait between theories investigating the causes of neurodegenerative diseases is the presence of neuroinflammation that has been associated with activation of microglia and peripheral monocytes that cross the blood brain barrier (Townsend et al. 2005)(Ratto et al. 2018). Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) is the more common type of diabetes where peripheral insulin resistance and compensatory increased insulin secretion may accelerate the decrease in pancreatic islet secretory function, eventually leading to insulin deficiency (R. Li et al. 2019).

Obesity is a major global public health problem and is associated with the metabolic disorder, T2DM that is characterized by the progressive loss of glucose homeostasis, development of insulin resistance and pancreatic β -cell degeneration, leading to insufficient insulin secretion from β -cells to meet the demands of increased peripheral insulin resistance in the late stages of the disease (Le Zhang et al. 2019).

Different population-based cohorts studies have also suggested an increased risk to develop dementia in T2DM patients (Ott et al. 1999). T2DM and AD share many characteristics, including chronic inflammation, oxidative stress, impaired insulin signalling, insulin resistance, glucose intolerance, and cognitive impairment (R. Li et al. 2019). Increasing evidence has shown that insulin deficiency and resistance, the markers of T2DM, are also important in AD pathology (Salas and De Strooper 2018).

Evidence in animal and human models supports the hypothesis that obesity and T2DM are associated with a deep gut dysbiosis. Overeating could represent one of the main starting points to alter gut microbiota locally and to initiate systemic inflammatory processes through the mucosal barrier (Gaofeng et al. 2018). A decline in butyrate-producing *Roseburia intestinalis* and *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii*, which may be metabolically beneficial, and an increase in

several opportunistic pathogen levels were observed from the stool samples of the T2DM patients. T2DM patients showed higher levels of *Lactobacillus* species in comparison to nondiabetics (Ferrell and Chiang 2019). Normal subjects conducted differed from patients with prediabetes with higher levels of *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* and *Haemophilus parainfluenzae T3T1*, whereas *Verrucomicrobiaceae, Akkermansia muciniphila*, and *Clostridiales sp. SS3/4* were less abundant (X.-Y. Li, Shen, and Ji 2019). SCFAs, such as acetate, butyrate, and propionate, as well as the end products of fermentation of dietary fibers by the anaerobic intestinal microbiota, might constitute a link between the microbiota and systemic inflammatory diseases. In particular, butyrate seems to have a direct role in the development of extrathymic anti-inflammatory regulatory T cells (X.-Y. Li, Shen, and Ji 2019). The alteration on the production of SCFAs, especially butyrate, observed in T2DM patients, might have a key role in the development of low-grade inflammation (Gaofeng et al. 2018).

Another important role in the development of a metabolic syndrome has been demonstrated for the pattern recognition receptor such as the toll-like receptor 5, a component of the innate immune system expressed in the gut mucosa and one that helps defend against infection (Nakamura et al. 2019). Mice deficient of the toll-like receptor 5 exhibited hyperphagia and developed hyperlipidemia, hypertension, insulin resistance, and obesity, as well as an altered microbiota. Interestingly, the transfer of intestinal microbiota from TLR5-deficient mice to germ-free mice led to metabolic syndrome (W. Li et al. 2018). These data support the crosstalk of gut microbiota with the innate immune system and suggest that the alteration of this link is critical in the development of the metabolic syndrome. In addition, studies show that gutderived endotoxin lipopolysaccharide might be involved in the chronic inflammation observed in T2DM (Naito, Uchiyama, & Takagi, 2018). HF diet increased the lipopolysaccharide content of the gut microbiota and resulted in metabolic endotoxemia (Biscetti et al. 2019). They observed that subcutaneous infusions of lipopolysaccharide into mice determined insulin resistance and obesity similar to that after feeding HF diet. Gut dysbiosis might increase lipopolysaccharide production by gram-negative bacteria and lead to metabolic endotoxemia and low-level inflammation that could contribute to the development of insulin resistance and T2DM (Biscetti et al. 2019; X.-Y. Li, Shen, and Ji 2019).

In AD the degradation of brain cells is observed at higher rate due to neuroinflammation. Microglia being responsible for this action, encounters the AD prone cells and triggers the inflammation process. Moreover, the gust microbiota playing a crucial role in inflammation and microglia activation also has a big impact on various chronic disease, like T2DM or AD pathology. Therefore, it is necessary to understand the mechanisms of the microbiota-gut-brain axis evolvement in the onset of AD and its pathology.

1.8. AD and obesity models in mice

Transgenic mouse models that are modified now mimic a range of AD-related pathologies which has helped the researchers to know more about the disease (Puzzo et al. 2015). These models have coined new insights in the pathophysiology as well as novel therapeutic approaches (Ameen-Ali et al. 2017). The models, however, raise a number of issues of its own as well. It is clear that the success of transgenic mouse models has to depend on the overexpression of APP transgenes containing FAD-associated mutations at levels that are not physiological (Tai et al. 2017).

The experimental models of AD are critical to gain a better understanding of pathogenesis and to assess the potential of novel therapeutic approaches in research. The most commonly used experimental animal models are transgenic mice. These transgenic mice have a overexpress human genes associated with familial AD that result in the formation of amyloid plaques (Webster et al. 2014).

- The first example of such models was the PDAPP mouse, which expressed human APP with the Indiana mutation (APP^{V717F}) driven by the PDGF-β promoter (Castellano et al. 2011).
- Tg2576 mice expressed human APP with the double Swedish mutation (APP^{K670N/M671L}). These mice developed plaques in the frontal, temporal and entorhinal cortices, hippocampus and cerebellum (Wolf et al. 2016). APP23 mice have more pronounced CAA, immediately formed form compact plaques in comparison to the predominantly diffuse plaques found in Tg2576 mice, and have localized neurodegeneration that is not seen in the Tg2576 mice (Yin et al. 2016)(Kim et al. 2019).
- The most extreme APP mouse model that is widely used is the 5xFAD model; these mice express the Swedish (APP^{K670N/M671L}), London (APP^{V717I}) and Florida (APP^{I716V}) APP mutations (Tible et al. 2019).

Some of the rodent models potentially useful for diet-induced obesity, insulin resistance and T2DM research are C57BL/6J, SWR/J, A/J, C3H/HeJ, DBA/2J, NZO, and TALLYHO/Jng mice, DDR Sprague Dawley Rats. Monogenic group of models includes C57BL/6J–ob/ob and C57BLKS/J–db/dbmice, Otsuka Long–Evans Tokushima Fatty Rat, fa/fa Rat, Zucker Diabetic Fatty Rat (Kleinert et al. 2018).

It is not yet clear that the temporal appearance of plaque and cognitive deficits in brain of the mouse models mirrors exactly that of the human disease. Many of the mouse models, indeed, exhibit behavioural deficits before significant plaque pathology (Ling Zhang et al. 2017). Substantial plaques in the brain is probably present for some period of time before cognitive symptoms first appear in human AD (Saito et al. 2014). Interpretations of behavioural studies in the mouse are also complicated by the fact that it is difficult to know how precisely the behavioural tests used in mice model the cognitive deficits in humans (Moy et al. 2004).

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1. Animals

In this study C57BL/6JRj mice from Janvier Labs, France (n=80; 40 males and 40 females) were used. The weight of the mice was 16–22 g at the beginning of the experiment. Mice were housed four per cage in controlled laboratory conditions with the temperature maintained at 21 \pm 1°C and humidity at 55 \pm 10 percent and food and water provided *ad libitum*.. Mice were tested during the dark phase of a reverse light cycle (lights off at 7.00 a.m. and on at 7.00 p.m.). All experimental protocols were performed in accordance with recommendations for the proper care and use of laboratory animals [local regulations by director of Lithuanian State Food and Veterinary Service (law n° B1-866/2012); European (EU directive n° 2010/63/EU) regulations and were approved by the ethical committee. Body weight was registered twice a week during the experiment (Monday and Friday).

2.2. Study design

The study with a basal period lasted 10 months (Figure 5). Two independent cohorts participated in the study. The cohort 1 with 48 mice (24 males, 24 females) and the cohort 2 having 32 mice (16 males, 16 females).



Figure 5. Experimental schedule during the 9 months of diet-induced obesity protocol.

2.3. Food and prebiotic administration

Mice were fed standard laboratory chow for one month to facilitate habituation to the new environment and then randomized into dietary treatment groups. After basal tests the first group of mice (n=20) was fed an low-fat diet [Altromin, Germany] (protein-18%, fat-10.2%, carbohydrate-71.8% and energy from fat 10 %) providing 3.76 kcal/g, as a control, while the second group (n=20) was fed a low-fat diet with prebiotics (FOS+GOS), the third group (n=20) was fed with HF diet [Altromin, Germany] (protein-18.1%, fat-61.6%, carbohydrate-20.3% and energy from fat 60%) providing 5.10 kcal/g and the fourth group (n=20) with HF diet with FOS+GOS. Mice were administered with prebiotics, a combination of FOS and GOS (dissolved in drinking water for 30 g/L), or water during all of the study.

2.4. Glucose tolerance test

For the glucose tolerance test, animals exposed to 3 and 9 months of obesity development were fasted for 14 hours prior to the beginning of the blood sample collection. Blood was sampled from the tail using a glucose monitoring system. This method is based on a slip-in sampling test strip technology, which requires a tiny amount of blood (5 μ l). The glucose detection range and the relative standard variation stated by manufacturer for 20–600 mg/dl and less than 3.1 percent, respectively. After measuring basal levels of glucose (0 time point), animals were injected glucose 2 g/kg intraperitoneally, and blood glucose levels were measured at 15, 30, 45, 60 and 120 minutes.

2.5. Open field test for locomotor activity

The open field (OF) apparatus size was 40 cm x 40cm. The four square size apparatus were placed next to each other forming a 80cm x 80 cm which had four chamber for four individual mice. The walls of the open-field were smooth and 30cm high. The animals were introduced to the OF for 10 minutes. The walking pattern of the animals was recorded using a Bandicam (Bandicam company) camera connected to the Viewer 3 (Bioserve) software for analyses. The animals were introduced to the OF five times after as specified in Figure 5. After each OF session, the following parameters of the animals' walking patterns were analysed: total activity; percentages of time spent in each zone, Latency; and the percentage of time that the animals spent walking with their operated side pointing against the wall (Castel et al. 2018; Rico,

Bonuti, and Morato 2019). The OF test was conducted in room with illumination of 490-500 lux.

2.6. Running wheel test

For running-wheel conditions, activity wheels (12 cm diameter) were attached to the mice new cages. Each full wheel revolution was equivalent to 1.12 meters and each quarter-rotation of the wheel was recorded. Each chamber was enclosed in a sound-attenuating cubicle and equipped with 2 response levers, 2 stimulus lights, a pellet hopper, and a food holder (Seward et al. 2018). Equipment was controlled by Lab Chart Reader 7 Pro (AD instruments) for recording and analyses was done by Lab Chart 8 Reader software (Manzanares, Brito-da-Silva, and Gandra 2018).

2.7. Cognition

Cognitive function was assessed using the novel object recognition test. A cognitive task depending on hippocampal function. V shaped maze build with plexiglass with height 15 cm arm length 30 cm and the 4.5 cm wide. On the first day, mice were habituated for 9 min to the V-maze in which the task was performed, as previously described (Burokas et al. 2014) (Figure 6). On the second day, mice were put back in the maze for 9 min, two identical objects were presented and the time that the mice spent exploring each object was recorded. The mice were again placed in the maze 24 h later for 9 min, one of the familiar objects was replaced with a novel object and the total time spent exploring each of the two objects (novel and familiar) was computed. Object exploration was defined as the orientation of the nose to the object at a distance of less than 2 cm. A discrimination index was calculated as the difference between the time spent exploring either the novel or familiar object divided by the total time exploring the two objects. An elevated discrimination index is considered to reflect improved memory retention for the familiar object (Puighermanal et al. 2009). The novel object recognition test was conducted in a sound-attenuated room with dim illumination 14-15 lux.



Figure 6. Demonstration of the V maze for Nobel Object Recognition Test. This test is divided into three days series. Day 1-habituation, Day 2- training and Day 3 preference for memory. Each test lasts 10 min. During this time the exploration of the experimental mouse towards the chambers at the end of the corridors was recorded with digital camera.

2.8. Social V- Maze

The Social V- Maze (SVM) was used in a sound-attenuated room with dim illumination 10-15 lux. A digital camera on top of the maze was used to record the sessions. The maze is built with black opaqueness plexiglass glass with dimensions of each arm's length 30 cm and 4.5 cm wide; the wall of the maze is 15 cm. The experiment was conducted for 15 minutes which was divided into three phases (Moy et al. 2004). Habituation session (Phase I) allows mice to freely explore and familiarize with the V-Maze. Sociability session (Phase II) is performed just after the habituation session. Preference for social novelty session (Phase III) is performed just after the sociability session. All three phases of the social test (habituation, sociability and preference for social novelty) were performed consecutively (Figure 7). SVM phases lasted 5 min as it has been described that during the first five minutes of interaction the majority of the social behaviours take place (Nadler et al. 2004). All the experiments were performed during the light phase of the dark/light cycle (lights on at 7 a.m. and off at 7 p.m.).



Figure 7. Scheme of the sociability and preference for social novelty test. There are three different phases: Phase I (habituation), Phase II (sociability) and Phase III (preference for social novelty). Each phase lasts 5 min. During this time the exploration of the experimental mouse towards the chambers at the end of the corridors was recorded on the three phases: both chambers empty (Phase I), Stranger mice vs. Object (Phase II) and Stranger mice vs. Familiar mice (Phase III).
3. RESULTS

3.1. Body weight

Body weight progressively increased by the continue exposure to HF diet (Figure 8 and 9). Body weight was progressively increased by the continued exposure HF diet in both males and females. In males two-way repeated measures ANOVA revealed significant main effects of diet ($F_{(3,36)} = 26.33$; P < 0.001), time ($F_{(9,54)} = 218.4$; P < 0.001) and interaction between both factors ($F_{(27,324)} = 23.30$; P < 0.001). Subsequent Dunnett's analysis showed a significant increase of body weight in obese and obese mice with FOS&GOS compared to lean controls from month 2 till month 9 (from P < 0.05 to P < 0.001) (Figure 8). Similarly, body weight was increased in female mice exposed to HF diet. Two-way repeated measures ANOVA revealed significant main effects of diet ($F_{(3,33)} = 25.82$; P < 0.001), time point ($F_{(9,48)} = 187.9$; P < 0.001) and interaction between both factors ($F_{(27,297)} = 27.784$; P < 0.001). Subsequent Dunnett's analysis showed a significant increase of body weight in obese mice from month 2 and obese mice with FOS&GOS from month 3 till month 9 compared to lean controls (from P < 0.05 to P < 0.001) (Figure 9).

Figure 8.





Basal Month1 Month2 Month3 Month4 Month5 Month6 Month7 Month8 Month9

Figure 9.



★ Compared with Lean group

3.2. GTT

Fasted glucose levels in blood were increased in male mice exposed to HF diet for 9 months. Glucose tolerance was impaired in obese male mice. Two-way repeated measures ANOVA revealed significant main effects of diet ($F_{(3,19)} = 11.94$; P < 0.001), time point ($F_{(3,60)} = 69.59$; P < 0.001) and interaction between both factors ($F_{(15,95)} = 4.156$; P < 0.001). Subsequent Dunnett's analysis showed a significant increase of glucose levels in obese and obese mice with FOS&GOS compared to corresponding lean controls at time point 0 and with obese mice at time point 30, 45, 60 and 120 min after glucose administration (from P < 0.05 to P < 0.001) (Figure 10). Similarly, fasted glucose levels in blood were increased in female mice exposed to HF diet for 9 months. Glucose tolerance was impaired in obese female mice too. Two-way repeated measures ANOVA revealed significant main effects of diet ($F_{(3,18)} = 19.88$; P < 0.001), time point ($F_{(3,60)} = 50.44$; P < 0.001) and interaction between both factors ($F_{(15,90)} = 5.774$; P<0.001). Subsequent Dunnett's analysis showed a significant increase of glucose levels in obese and obese mice with FOS&GOS compared to corresponding lean controls at time point 0 and with obese mice at time point 30, 45, 60 and 120 min after glucose administration (from P<0.05 to P<0.001) (Figure 11).





Obese FOS&GOS



★ Compared with Lean group

3.3. OF test

3.3.1. Latency to enter into the center

Latency to enter center during the OF test to check anxiety like behaviour in the mice was analysed in males as well as females. One-way ANOVA revealed significance difference for males, during the basal condition ($F_{(3,33)}=3.422$; P<0.05, Figure 12A), 3 months ($F_{(3,30)}=5.276$; P <0.05, Figure 12B) but didn't show difference for 1 month ($F_{(3,34)}=0.9118$; n.s., Figure 12D), 6 months ($F_{(3,18)}=0.7588$; n.s., Figure 12E), 9 months ($F_{(3,17)}=0.9044$; n.s., Figure 12C). Subsequent Dunnett's multiple comparison test showed an increase in anxiety like behavior in obese mice with FOS &GOS (Figure 12B). One-way ANOVA revealed no significant difference in females during basal condition ($F_{(3,31)}=0.5782$; n.s., Figure 13A) 1 month ($F_{(3,29)}=2.363$; n.s., Figure 13D), 3 months ($F_{(3,32)}=0.9054$; n.s., Figure 13B), 6 months ($F_{(3,19)}=0.4725$; n.s., Figure 13E), 9 months ($F_{(3,18)}=1.526$; n.s., Figure 13C).

3.3.2. Percentage of time spent in the center

Percentage of activity time in the center zone was analysed to confirm the anxiety like behaviour in the mice (Figure 14, 15). One-way ANOVA did not revealed any significant difference in males during basal conditions ($F_{(3,36)}=0.6852$; n.s.; Figure 14A), after 1 month ($F_{(3,36)}=0.05782$; n.s.; Figure 14D), 3 months ($F_{(3,35)}=2.474$; n.s.; Figure 14B), 6 month ($F_{(3,34)}=$ 1.494; n.s.; Figure 14E), 9 months ($F_{(3,16)}=3.104$; n.s.; Figure 14C). One-way ANOVA did not reveal any significant difference in female during basal conditions ($F_{(3,34)}=0.9868$; n.s.; Figure 15A) 1 month ($F_{(3,34)}=1.498$; n.s.; Figure 15D), 3 month ($F_{(3,31)}=1.954$; n.s.; Figure 15B), 6 month females ($F_{(3,32)}=1.239$; n.s.; Figure 15E), 9 month females ($F_{(3,19)}=0.1163$; n.s.; Figure 15C).















3.4. Novel object recognition test

Novel object recognition test was conducted successfully. Long term memory was observed in different time intervals (basal, 1 month, 3 months, 6 months and 9 months). One-way ANOVA did not revealed any significance difference in males at basal conditions ($F_{(3,20)}= 0.4377$; n.s., Figure 16A), 1 month ($F_{(3,20)}= 0.1274$; n.s., Figure 16D), 3 months ($F_{(3,19)}= 0.4355$; n.s., Figure 16B), 6 months ($F_{(3,20)}= 0.09233$; n.s., Figure 16E), but it revealed significance difference at 9 months ($F_{(3,20)}= 3.998$; P<0.05, Figure 16C). Subsequent Dunnett's analysis showed that obese mice with prebiotics administration showed lower DI for long term memory after 9 months (Figure 16C). One-way ANOVA reveal no significant difference in long term memory impairment in female mice at basal conditions ($F_{(3,26)}= 1.033$; n.s., Figure 17A), after 1 month ($F_{(3,34)}= 1.202$; n.s., Figure 17D), 3 months ($F_{(3,33)}= 1.096$; n.s., Figure 17B), 6 months ($F_{(3,33)}= 0.2872$; n.s., Figure 17E), 9 months ($F_{(3,19)}= 0.3644$; n.s., Figure 17C).

Figure 16





OpeserFOSECOS

Obese

0.2

0.0

Leantosta

Lean

Figure 17



3.5. Running Wheel Test

Running wheel test showed a decrease in the physical activity of the mice. HF induced mice has least physical activity as compared to other mice. Day time physical activity and the total physical activity (24 hours) was analysed in diet induced mice.

3.5.1 Total physical activity

One-way ANOVA did not reveal significant difference of diet on physical activity of the mice for males in basal condition ($F_{(3,33)}$ = 0.2245; n.s.; Figure 18A), 1 month ($F_{(3,34)}$ = 2.148; n.s. ; Figure 18D), but it revealed the significant difference in 3 months ($F_{(3,32)}$ = 3.157; P<0.05; Figure 18B), 6 months ($F_{(3,35)}$ = 6.898; P<0.0001; Figure 18E), 9 months ($F_{(3,18)}$ = 8.993; *P* < 0.0001; Figure 18C). Subsequent Dunnett's multiple comparison test showed a significant decrease in physical activity in obese male mice during the day and night cycle after 6 and 9 months (from *P*<0.05 to *P*<0.0001) (Figure 18E and C). One-way ANOVA did not revealed significance difference for females during basal condition ($F_{(3,32)}$ = 0.3982; n.s.; Figure 19A), and 3 months ($F_{(3,30)}$ = 2.278; n.s.; Figure 19B), but it revealed significance difference in 1 month ($F_{(3,34)}$ = 4.391; P<0.05; Figure 19D), 6 months ($F_{(3,32)}$ = 6.276; P<0.001; Figure 19E), 9 months ($F_{(3,18)}$ = 11.29; *P* < 0.0001; Figure 19C). Subsequent Dunnett's multiple comparison test showed a significant decrease in physical activity in obese female mice after 6 and 9 months and lean animals after 6 months administration with FOS&GOS (from *P*<0.05 to *P*<0.0001) (Figure. 19).

3.5.2 Physical activity during day time

One-way ANOVA did not revealed the significance difference for the effect of diet on physical activity of the mice during day time in males for basal condition ($F_{(3,34)}$ = 0.2245; n.s.; Figure 20A), after 1 month ($F_{(3,34)}$ = 1.622; n.s.; Figure 20D), but significant difference was revealed in 3 months ($F_{(3,36)}$ = 3.157; P<0.05; Figure 20B), 6 months ($F_{(3,36)}$ = 6.898; P<0.001; Figure 20E), 9 months ($F_{(3,20)}$ = 8.993; P<0.001; Figure 20C). Subsequent Dunnett's multiple comparison test showed a significant decrease in physical activity in obese male mice after 6 and 9 months (Fig. 20). One-way ANOVA did not reveal the significant difference during day time in females for basal condition ($F_{(3,31)}$ = 0.2194; n.s.; Figure 21A), 3 months ($F_{(3,30)}$ = 2.278; n.s.; Figure 21B), but it revealed the significance difference for 1 month ($F_{(3,31)}$ =3.474; P<0.05; Figure 21D), 6 months ($F_{(3,32)}$ = 6.276; P<0.05; Figure 21E), 9 month ($F_{(3,17)}$ = 25.42, *P* < 0.0001; Figure 21C). Subsequent Dunnett's multiple comparison test showed a significant decrease in physical activity in obese female mice after 6 and 9 months ($F_{(3,17)}$ = 25.42, *P* < 0.0001; Figure 21C). Subsequent Dunnett's multiple comparison test showed a significant decrease in physical activity in obese female mice after 6 and 9 months (Figure 21).





Figure 19







Figure 21



52

3.6. SVM

Decrease in social behaviour was observed in obese mice. The SVM which was conducted in two categories mouse verses object and stranger mouse verses familiar mouse showed a strong decrease in sociability in mice after the HF diet induced obesity. One-way ANOVA revealed significant difference in both males and females giving stranger mouse verses object in males $(F_{(3,19)}= 8.608; P < 0.001; Figure 22A)$, stranger mouse verses object in females $(F_{(3,19)}= 10.28; P < 0.001; Figure 22B)$, stranger mouse verses familiar mouse males $(F_{(3,19)}= 7.762; P < 0.05; Figure 23A)$, and did not show any significant difference in stranger mouse verses familiar mouse females $(F_{(3,18)}= 1.913; n.s.; Figure 23B)$. Subsequent Dunnett's multiple comparison test showed a significant decrease in sociability in obese mice (from *P*<0.05 to *P*<0.001) (Figure 22 and 23).

Figure 22



Figure 23





★ Compared with Lean group

4. DISCUSSION

4.1. HF diet effect on body weight and GTT

In our study conditions, mice (males and females) introduced with HF diet had significant weight gain from the second month with diet. HF diet led to significant overweight and glucose intolerance. It was found that some mice developed obesity while others remained lean when fed with the control diet. In this experiment, HF diet induced significant weight gain, as the effects were more pronounced in the HF than in the low-fat diet exposed mice. Similar observation was previously described (Espinosa-Carrasco et al. 2018; Burokas et al. 2018). Glucose tolerance was impaired in obese mice, as revealed by an upward shifted glucose curve. However, lean mice showed lower values than obese animals at almost all time points (except 15 min) suggesting better recovery. As expected, HF diet obese mice also showed the highest fasted glucose levels, which could be related to their highest increase of body weight. These results validate the obesity model leading to diabetes state in animals used in the present study because raised fasting glucose levels have been demonstrated in diet-induced, genetic, and metabolic syndrome mouse models similarly to humans.

Prebiotics are widely used as modulators of the intestinal and immune systems and are an important component of infant milk formulas (Chang et al. 2019). However, limited studies have focused on the effects of prebiotics on the CNS and behaviour (Chang et al. 2019; Whisner and Castillo 2018; Sarao and Arora 2017; Shokryazdan et al. 2017; Burokas et al. 2017). In this study, we report that prebiotics (i.e. FOS+GOS) were able to modify behaviour relevant to anxiety and memory in mice to some extent. The effects of prebiotics were observed on cognition, physical activity, and sociability. When compared the body weight of the mice, the obese animals with prebiotics didn't have a major weight gain as the only with HF diet animals.

4.2. Long term memory impairment and anxiety

Obesity and the consequent metabolic dysfunctions are strongly linked to metabolic syndromeassociated cognitive impairment and dementia (Bruce-Keller et al. 2017). Contrary, as expected, these HF diet mice did not exhibit cognitive function decline (only males after 9 months of diet). Both glucose and insulin intolerance impairments are demonstrated to be essential and important pathogenic factors in the development of metabolic dysfunctionassociated cognitive impairment (Bruce-Keller et al. 2015); here we show that HF diet treatment for 9 months increases glucose intolerance in mice (Figures 10, 11). Importantly, insulin resistance is one major risk factor of cognitive impairment in patients with obesity/diabetes or metabolic syndrome (McCrimmon, Ryan, and Frier 2012). Here we show as expected that HF diet-induced obesity in mice cognition was decreased over the 9 months duration (, similarly that previously was confirmed that strong metabolic regulation for insulin dependence in mice with HF diet-induced obesity was associated with dramatic cognition decline (Q. Wang et al. 2018). The object recognition task used in this study evaluates a hippocampal-dependent long-term memory. Hippocampal-dependent memory is not impaired in mice during the basal conditions. In this study, HF food intake impairs hippocampal longterm memory in mice. It is well-known that HF food modifies hippocampal-dependent longterm memory and decreases dendritic complexity within the hippocampus (Cope et al. 2018). When compared with control group obese mice characterized by deficient learning, do neither behave homogeneously in terms of learning impairment/inflexibility nor reinforcement, impulsivity and compulsivity (Burokas et al. 2018).

As obesity is a complex disorder and a major risk factor for many diseases and health problems, including heart disease, diabetes, stroke, high blood pressure, cancer, osteoarthritis, and cognitive impairment (Amiri and Behnezhad 2019). Additionally, decreased spatial memory, anxiety, and depression have been linked to obesity-associated brain inflammation (Rajan and Menon 2017). Previous studies have reported that HF diet-induced obesity in mice results in anxiety-like behaviour (Seravalle and Grassi 2017). However, similar to other obesity-driven phenotypes such as physical inactivity, anxiety-like behaviour is not simply caused by increased body mass (Singh et al. 2018). In our study we have not observed a profound effect of HF diet on open filed results for anxiety (only males after 9 months of diet). Interestingly, loss of body weight alone does not always correspond to improvements in mental health (Inglis et al. 2019). Thus, the mechanistic basis of obesity-induced anxiety-like behaviour is not yet fully understood. HF diet induces senescence in multiple organs, predominantly in perigonadal adipose tissue but also in other organs including the liver (Ogrodnik et al. 2019). Until now, the role of HF diet in the induction of senescence in the brain is largely understudied. Recently, several studies have uncovered a role for senescent glial cells in neurodegenerative diseases such as τ -dependent pathology (Rajan and Menon 2017). In the case of our study mice didn't show a strong effect on anxiety like behaviour.

4.3. Obese mice response to physical activity

It has been showed that obese mice are poor in physical activity (Carvalho et al. 2018; Manzanares, Brito-da-Silva, and Gandra 2018). This study presents the evidence that voluntary running wheel exercise can result in less activity in HF diet fed mice but also to some extent in mice low-fat fed mice over the time. The present study demonstrated that aged obese mice, significantly reduced physical endurance capacity by >70% compared with aged lean mice. As obese mice have gained weight and are less physically active the results showed decline in monitored running wheel test. Prebiotics administration didn't have any major effect on the physical activity of the mice.

4.4. Sociability of obese mice

The analysis of social interactions both in a familiar mouse and stranger mouse demonstrated that, obese mice (males and females) were less sociable, spending less time observing the mouse and spending more time exploring the object in the social V- maze compared to the lean mice. Moreover male obese mice showed lower preference for social novelty. These data can be interpreted as a sign of social avoidance of both familiar and unfamiliar mice displayed by animals fed with the HF food. It has been reported that obese mice present a factor of neophobia that could explain lower social interactions in cases where only the interactions with unfamiliar mouse would be reduced in mice exposed to the HF diet (Q. Wang et al. 2018). Our results are generally in line with several studies that reported diminished sociability in rodents after exposures to diets containing high amounts of fat/cholesterol (Holm-Hansen et al. 2016). In one of the most recent studies, Buffington and colleagues found that the even off springs of dams fed with a HF diet containing high amounts of cholesterol displayed markedly dropped number, frequency, and duration of social contacts both with familiar and unfamiliar mouse, as well as impaired long-term potentiation in the ventral tegmental area, a sign of a deficient synaptic plasticity (Buffington et al. 2016). These deficits were rescued by supplementary oxytocin and a restoration of normal microbiota parameters, which were affected in the offspring of dietary-challenged mice and can potentially mediate reported effects here. Moreover, another study with a HF diet containing high amounts of cholesterol showed that it can exacerbate social deficiency and cognitive rigidity in BTBR T+tf/J inbreed mouse line, a

model of autism (M. Yang et al. 2012). BTBR mice, after housing on a HF diet containing high amounts of cholesterol starting at weaning, demonstrated greater deficits in social memory, lowered preference for social novelty, and impaired learning of the T-maze than these mice fed with a regular diet (Newell et al. 2017).

In summary our results suggest that modelling a diet-induced obesity and diabetes leading to AD nine months are not sufficient at least for behavioural symptoms such as memory impairment. The rapid developed obesity and diabetes by HF diet may not be straight forward for AD behavioural symptoms. On the other hand, this does not mean that there is not already an early stage of development of AD.

CONCLUSIONS

1. HF diet already after two months significantly increased body weight of mice, both males and females and impaired glucose tolerance after 9 months of diet. Prebiotic administration mitigated the HF diet negative impact.

2. The mice showed no anxiety like behaviour or memory impairment after 9 months of HF diet or prebiotics administration. The obese mice were less physically active when they had a running-wheel test.

3. The sociability test revealed that obese mice were less social compared to the lean mice. They also had less preference for social novelty.

4. Our results suggest that nine months of HF diet is not sufficient that a diet-induced diabetes leads to an AD model in mice.

REFERENCES

- 1. 1.609, Yuji Naito, Kazuhiko Uchiyama, and Tomohisa Takagi. 2018. 'Dual Antiplatelet Therapy Does Not Affect the Society for Free Radical Research Japan 10.3164/J6cb .18-16 1880 50860912-0009 JJCBN Original Article Kyj Bn18-1 c Oto, Japan Ournal of Clinical Biochemistry and Nutrition the Incidence of Low?Dose Aspirin?Ind'. *Journal of Clinical Biochemistry and Nutrition* 64 (June): 2016–19. https://doi.org/10.3164/jcbn.18.
- A Armstrong, Richard. 2018. 'A Comparison of the Spatial Patterns of β-Amyloid (Aβ) Deposits in Five Neurodegenerative Disorders.' *Folia Neuropathologica* 56 (4): 284– 92. https://doi.org/10.5114/fn.2018.80860.
- Albensi, Benedict C. 2019. 'Dysfunction of Mitochondria: Implications for Alzheimer's Disease.' *International Review of Neurobiology* 145: 13–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.irn.2019.03.001.
- Alkasir, Rashad, Jing Li, Xudong Li, Miao Jin, and Baoli Zhu. 2017. 'Human Gut Microbiota: The Links with Dementia Development'. *Protein and Cell* 8 (2): 90–102. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13238-016-0338-6.
- Ameen-Ali, K E, S B Wharton, J E Simpson, P R Heath, P Sharp, and J Berwick. 2017. 'Review: Neuropathology and Behavioural Features of Transgenic Murine Models of Alzheimer's Disease.' *Neuropathology and Applied Neurobiology* 43 (7): 553–70. https://doi.org/10.1111/nan.12440.
- Amiri, Sohrab, and Sepideh Behnezhad. 2019. 'Obesity and Anxiety Symptoms: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis.' *Neuropsychiatrie : Klinik, Diagnostik, Therapie Und Rehabilitation : Organ Der Gesellschaft Osterreichischer Nervenarzte Und Psychiater* 33 (2): 72–89. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40211-019-0302-9.
- Asano, Yasunari, Tetsuya Hiramoto, Ryo Nishino, Yuji Aiba, Tae Kimura, Kazufumi Yoshihara, Yasuhiro Koga, and Nobuyuki Sudo. 2012. 'Critical Role of Gut Microbiota in the Production of Biologically Active, Free Catecholamines in the Gut Lumen of Mice'. *American Journal of Physiology - Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology* 303 (11): 1288–95. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpgi.00341.2012.
- Asti, Annalia, and Luciana Gioglio. 2014. 'Can a Bacterial Endotoxin Be a Key Factor in the Kinetics of Amyloid Fibril Formation?' *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease* 39: 169– 79. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-131394.

- Biscetti, Federico, Elisabetta Nardella, Andrea Leonardo Cecchini, Raffaele Landolfi, and Andrea Flex. 2019. 'The Role of the Microbiota in the Diabetic Peripheral Artery Disease'. *Mediators of Inflammation* 2019: 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/4128682.
- Bonfili, Laura, Valentina Cecarini, Sara Berardi, Silvia Scarpona, Jan S Suchodolski, Cinzia Nasuti, Dennis Fiorini, Maria Chiara Boarelli, Giacomo Rossi, and Anna Maria Eleuteri. 2017. 'Microbiota Modulation Counteracts Alzheimer 's Disease Progression Influencing Neuronal Proteolysis and Gut Hormones Plasma Levels', no. December 2016: 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-02587-2.
- Bostanciklioğlu, M. 2019. 'The Role of Gut Microbiota in Pathogenesis of Alzheimer's Disease'. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.14264.
- Bravo, Javier A., Paul Forsythe, Marianne V. Chew, Emily Escaravage, Hélène M. Savignac, Timothy G. Dinan, John Bienenstock, and John F. Cryan. 2011. 'Ingestion of Lactobacillus Strain Regulates Emotional Behavior and Central GABA Receptor Expression in a Mouse via the Vagus Nerve'. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 108 (38): 16050–55. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1102999108.
- Bravo, Javier A., Marcela Julio-Pieper, Paul Forsythe, Wolfgang Kunze, Timothy G. Dinan, John Bienenstock, and John F. Cryan. 2012. 'Communication between Gastrointestinal Bacteria and the Nervous System'. *Current Opinion in Pharmacology* 12 (6): 667–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coph.2012.09.010.
- 14. Bruce-Keller, Annadora J, Sun-Ok Fernandez-Kim, R Leigh Townsend, Claudia Kruger, Richard Carmouche, Susan Newman, J Michael Salbaum, and Hans-Rudolf Berthoud. 2017. 'Maternal Obese-Type Gut Microbiota Differentially Impact Cognition, Anxiety and Compulsive Behavior in Male and Female Offspring in Mice.' *PloS One* 12 (4): e0175577. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0175577.
- 15. Bruce-Keller, Annadora J, J Michael Salbaum, Meng Luo, Eugene 4th Blanchard, Christopher M Taylor, David A Welsh, and Hans-Rudolf Berthoud. 2015. 'Obese-Type Gut Microbiota Induce Neurobehavioral Changes in the Absence of Obesity.' *Biological Psychiatry* 77 (7): 607–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2014.07.012.
- Buffington, Shelly A, Gonzalo Viana Di Prisco, Thomas A Auchtung, Nadim J Ajami, Joseph F Petrosino, and Mauro Costa-Mattioli. 2016. 'Microbial Reconstitution Reverses Maternal Diet-Induced Social and Synaptic Deficits in Offspring.' *Cell* 165 (7): 1762–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.06.001.

- Burokas, Aurelijus, Silvia Arboleya, Rachel D. Moloney, Veronica L. Peterson, Kiera Murphy, Gerard Clarke, Catherine Stanton, Timothy G. Dinan, and John F. Cryan.
 2017. 'Targeting the Microbiota-Gut-Brain Axis: Prebiotics Have Anxiolytic and Antidepressant-like Effects and Reverse the Impact of Chronic Stress in Mice'. *Biological Psychiatry* 82 (7): 472–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2016.12.031.
- Burokas, Aurelijus, Elena Martín-García, Jose Espinosa-Carrasco, Ionas Erb, Jerome McDonald, Cedric Notredame, Mara Dierssen, and Rafael Maldonado. 2018.
 'Extinction and Reinstatement of an Operant Responding Maintained by Food in Different Models of Obesity.' *Addiction Biology* 23 (2): 544–55. https://doi.org/10.1111/adb.12597.
- Burokas, Aurelijus, Elena Martín-García, Javier Gutiérrez-Cuesta, Santiago Rojas, José Raúl Herance, Juan Domingo Gispert, Miquel Ángel Serra, and Rafael Maldonado. 2014. 'Relationships between Serotonergic and Cannabinoid System in Depressive-like Behavior: A PET Study with [11C]-DASB'. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 130 (1): 126– 35. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.12716.
- 20. Burokas, Aurelijus, Rachel D Moloney, Timothy G Dinan, and John F Cryan. 2015. Microbiota Regulation of the Mammalian Gut-Brain Axis. Advances in Applied Microbiology. Vol. 91. Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aambs.2015.02.001.
- Cai, Zhiyou, Pei-Feng Qiao, Cheng-Qun Wan, Min Cai, Nan-Kai Zhou, and Qin Li.
 2018. 'Role of Blood-Brain Barrier in Alzheimer's Disease.' *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease : JAD* 63 (4): 1223–34. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-180098.
- Calsolaro, Valeria, and Paul Edison. 2016. 'Neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's Disease: Current Evidence and Future Directions.' *Alzheimer's & Dementia : The Journal of the Alzheimer's Association* 12 (6): 719–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2016.02.010.
- 23. Carvalho, Francine Pereira de, Thaís Ludmilla Moretto, Izabelle Dias Benfato, Marcela Barthichoto, Sandra Mara Ferreira, José Maria Costa-Júnior, and Camila Aparecida Machado de Oliveira. 2018. 'Central and Peripheral Effects of Physical Exercise without Weight Reduction in Obese and Lean Mice'. *Bioscience Reports* 38 (2): 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1042/BSR20171033.
- 24. Castel, David, Itai Sabbag, Elvira Nasaev, Sean Peng, and Sigal Meilin. 2018. 'Open Field and a Behavior Score in PNT Model for Neuropathic Pain in Pigs'. *Journal of Pain Research* 11: 2279–93. https://doi.org/10.2147/JPR.S172300.
- 25. Castellano, Joseph M, Jungsu Kim, Floy R Stewart, Hong Jiang, Ronald B DeMattos,

Bruce W Patterson, Anne M Fagan, et al. 2011. 'Human ApoE Isoforms Differentially Regulate Brain Amyloid-β Peptide Clearance.' *Science Translational Medicine* 3 (89): 89ra57. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3002156.

- 26. Cattaneo, Annamaria, Nadia Cattane, Samantha Galluzzi, Stefania Provasi, Nicola Lopizzo, Cristina Festari, Clarissa Ferrari, et al. 2017. 'Association of Brain Amyloidosis with Pro-Inflammatory Gut Bacterial Taxa and Peripheral Inflammation Markers in Cognitively Impaired Elderly'. *Neurobiology of Aging* 49: 60–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2016.08.019.
- 27. Cerovic, Milica, Gianluigi Forloni, and Claudia Balducci. 2019. 'Neuroinflammation and the Gut Microbiota: Possible Alternative Therapeutic Targets to Counteract Alzheimer's Disease?' *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience* 11 (October): 284. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2019.00284.
- Chang, Chih-Jung, Tzu-Lung Lin, Yu-Ling Tsai, Tsung-Ru Wu, Wei-Fan Lai, Chia-Chen Lu, and Hsin-Chih Lai. 2019. 'Next Generation Probiotics in Disease Amelioration.' *Journal of Food and Drug Analysis* 27 (3): 615–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfda.2018.12.011.
- 29. Chatterjee, Saion, Sanne A.E. Peters, Mark Woodward, Silvia Mejia Arango, G. David Batty, Nigel Beckett, Alexa Beiser, et al. 2016. 'Type 2diabetes as a Risk Factor for Dementia in Women Compared with Men: A Pooled Analysis of 2.3 Million People Comprising More than 100,000 Cases of Dementia'. *Diabetes Care* 39 (2): 300–307. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc15-1588.
- 30. Colomina, Maria Teresa, and Fiona Peris-Sampedro. 2017. 'Aluminum and Alzheimer's Disease.' Advances in Neurobiology 18: 183–97. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-60189-2_9.
- 31. Colpitts, Sara L., Eli J. Kasper, Abigail Keever, Caleb Liljenberg, Trevor Kirby, Krisztian Magori, Lloyd H. Kasper, and Javier Ochoa-Repáraz. 2017. 'A Bidirectional Association between the Gut Microbiota and CNS Disease in a Biphasic Murine Model of Multiple Sclerosis'. *Gut Microbes* 8 (6): 561–73. https://doi.org/10.1080/19490976.2017.1353843.
- 32. Cope, Elise C, Elizabeth A LaMarca, Patrick K Monari, Lyra B Olson, Susana Martinez, Anna D Zych, Nicole J Katchur, and Elizabeth Gould. 2018. 'Microglia Play an Active Role in Obesity-Associated Cognitive Decline.' *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 38 (41): 8889–8904. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0789-18.2018.

- Cowan, Maureen, and William A. Petri. 2018. 'Microglia: Immune Regulators of Neurodevelopment'. *Frontiers in Immunology* 9 (NOV): 1–8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.02576.
- Crous-Bou, Marta, Carolina Minguillón, Nina Gramunt, and José Luis Molinuevo.
 2017. 'Alzheimer's Disease Prevention: From Risk Factors to Early Intervention.' *Alzheimer's Research & Therapy* 9 (1): 71. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13195-017-0297z.
- 35. Dage, Jeffrey L, Alexandra M V Wennberg, David C Airey, Clinton E Hagen, S David, Mary M Machulda, Rosebud O Roberts, et al. 2017. 'HHS Public Access' 12 (12): 1226–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2016.06.001.Levels.
- 36. Diehl, Thomas, Roger Mullins, and Dimitrios Kapogiannis. 2017. 'Insulin Resistance in Alzheimer's Disease'. *Translational Research* 183 (November): 26–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trsl.2016.12.005.
- 37. Ding, Yuanting, Lijuan Lei, Chencen Lai, and Zhi Tang. 2019. 'Co Rre Cte d Un Au Tho r P Roo f Tau Protein and Zebrafish Models for Un Cte d Au Tho r P Co Rre Roo F'. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-180917.
- Erny, Daniel, Anna Lena Hrabě de Angelis, and Marco Prinz. 2017. 'Communicating Systems in the Body: How Microbiota and Microglia Cooperate'. *Immunology* 150 (1): 7–15. https://doi.org/10.1111/imm.12645.
- 39. Espinosa-Carrasco, Jose, Aurelijus Burokas, Marta Fructuoso, Ionas Erb, Elena Martín-García, Miriam Gutiérrez-Martos, Cedric Notredame, Rafael Maldonado, and Mara Dierssen. 2018. 'Time-Course and Dynamics of Obesity-Related Behavioral Changes Induced by Energy-Dense Foods in Mice'. *Addiction Biology* 23 (2): 531–43. https://doi.org/10.1111/adb.12595.
- 40. Evans, D. A., J. L. Bienias, J. A. Schneider, R. S. Wilson, and D. A. Bennett. 2011.
 'Mild Cognitive Impairment Is Related to Alzheimer Disease Pathology and Cerebral Infarctions'. *Neurology* 64 (5): 834–41. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000152982.47274.9e.
- 41. Fenoglio, Chiara, Elio Scarpini, Maria Serpente, and Daniela Galimberti. 2018. 'Role of Genetics and Epigenetics in the Pathogenesis of Alzheimer's Disease and Frontotemporal Dementia.' *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease : JAD* 62 (3): 913–32. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-170702.
- Ferrari, Maurizio. 2019. 'New Molecular Approaches to Alzheimer's Disease'. *Clinical Biochemistry*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2019.04.010.

- Ferreira, Sergio T., Julia R. Clarke, Theresa R. Bomfim, and Fernanda G. De Felice. 2014. 'Inflammation, Defective Insulin Signaling, and Neuronal Dysfunction in Alzheimer's Disease'. *Alzheimer's and Dementia* 10 (1 SUPPL.): S76–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2013.12.010.
- 44. Ferrell, Jessica M, and John Y L Chiang. 2019. 'Understanding Bile Acid Signaling in Diabetes : From Pathophysiology to Therapeutic Targets', 257–72.
- 45. Fjell, Anders M, Linda McEvoy, Dominic Holland, Anders M Dale, and Kristine B Walhovd. 2014. 'What Is Normal in Normal Aging? Effects of Aging, Amyloid and Alzheimer's Disease on the Cerebral Cortex and the Hippocampus.' *Progress in Neurobiology* 117 (June): 20–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2014.02.004.
- 46. Franceschi, F, V Ojetti, M Candelli, M Covino, and S Cardone. 2019. 'Microbes and Alzheimer ' Disease : Lessons from H . Pylori and GUT Microbiota', 426–30.
- 47. Frigerio, Carlo Sala, Leen Wolfs, Nicola Fattorelli, V Hugh Perry, Mark Fiers, Bart De Strooper, Carlo Sala Frigerio, et al. 2019. 'The Major Risk Factors for Alzheimer 's Disease : Age , Sex , and Genes Modulate the Microglia Response to A b Plaques Resource The Major Risk Factors for Alzheimer 's Disease : Age , Sex , and Genes Modulate the Microglia Response to A b Plaques', 1293–1306. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2019.03.099.
- 48. Fröhlich, Esther E, Aitak Farzi, Raphaela Mayerhofer, Florian Reichmann, Angela Jac, Bernhard Wagner, Erwin Zinser, et al. 2016. 'Brain , Behavior , and Immunity Cognitive Impairment by Antibiotic-Induced Gut Dysbiosis: Analysis of Gut Microbiota-Brain Communication' 56: 140–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2016.02.020.
- 49. Gaofeng, Zhan, Yang Ning, Li Shan, Huang Niannian, Fang Xi, Zhang Jie, Zhu Bin, Yang Ling, Yang Chun, and Luo Ailin. 2018. 'Abnormal Gut Microbiota Composition Contributes to Cognitive Dysfunction in SAMP8 Mice'. *Aging* 10 (6): 1257–67. https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.101464.
- 50. Gareau, Mélanie G., Eytan Wine, David M. Rodrigues, Joon Ho Cho, Mark T. Whary, Dana J. Philpott, Glenda MacQueen, and Philip M. Sherman. 2011. 'Bacterial Infection Causes Stress-Induced Memory Dysfunction in Mice'. *Gut* 60 (3): 307–17. https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.2009.202515.
- 51. Gaugler, Joseph, Bryan James, Tricia Johnson, Ken Scholz, and Jennifer Weuve.
 2016a. '2016 Alzheimer's Disease Facts and Figures'. *Alzheimer's and Dementia* 12 (4): 459–509. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2016.03.001.

- 52. . 2016b. '2016 Alzheimer's Disease Facts and Figures'. *Alzheimer's and Dementia* 12 (4): 459–509. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2016.03.001.
- 53. Giau, Vo Van, Si Ying Wu, Angelo Jamerlan, Seong Soo A. An, Sang Yun Kim, and John Hulme. 2018. 'Gut Microbiota and Their Neuroinflammatory Implications in Alzheimer's Disease'. *Nutrients* 10 (11): 1–18. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu10111765.
- 54. Grenham, Sue, Gerard Clarke, John F Cryan, Timothy G Dinan, and Govind K Makharia. 2011. 'Brain Gut Microbe Communication in Health and Disease' 2 (December): 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2011.00094.
- 55. Hane, Francis T, Brenda Y Lee, and Zoya Leonenko. 2017. 'Recent Progress in Alzheimer's Disease Research, Part 1: Pathology.' *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease : JAD* 57 (1): 1–28. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-160882.
- 56. Hanisch, Uwe Karsten. 2002. 'Microglia as a Source and Target of Cytokines'. *Glia* 40 (2): 140–55. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.10161.
- 57. Hill, James M., Walter J. Lukiw, Christian Clement, Surjyadipta Bhattacharjee, and Yuhai Zhao. 2014. 'Alzheimer'S Disease and the Microbiome'. *Alzheimer's & Dementia* 10 (4): P873. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2014.07.008.
- Holm-Hansen, S, J K Low, J Zieba, A Gjedde, L H Bergersen, and T Karl. 2016.
 'Behavioural Effects of High Fat Diet in a Mutant Mouse Model for the Schizophrenia Risk Gene Neuregulin 1.' *Genes, Brain, and Behavior* 15 (3): 295–304. https://doi.org/10.1111/gbb.12267.
- Hu, Xu, Tao Wang, and Feng Jin. 2016. 'Alzheimer's Disease and Gut Microbiota'. Science China Life Sciences 59 (10): 1006–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11427-016-5083-9.
- 60. Hu, Youjia, F Susan Wong, Li Wen, and New Haven. 2018. 'HHS Public Access', 219–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrs.2017.01.034.Antibiotics.
- 61. Inglis, Angela, Sherin Shibin, Rosario Ubungen, Sarah Farooq, Princess Mata, Jennifer Thiam, Futwan A Al-Mohanna, and Kate S Collison. 2019. 'Strain and Sex-Based Glucocentric & Behavioral Differences between KK/HIJ and C57BL/6J Mice.' *Physiology & Behavior* 210 (October): 112646. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2019.112646.
- 62. J.R. De-Paula, Vanessa de, Andrea S. Forlenza, and Orestes V. Forlenza. 2018.
 'Relevance of Gutmicrobiota in Cognition, Behaviour and Alzheimer's Disease'. *Pharmacological Research* 136 (August): 29–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrs.2018.07.007.

- 63. Jack, Clifford R Jr, Marilyn S Albert, David S Knopman, Guy M McKhann, Reisa A Sperling, Maria C Carrillo, Bill Thies, and Creighton H Phelps. 2011. 'Introduction to the Recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association Workgroups on Diagnostic Guidelines for Alzheimer's Disease.' *Alzheimer's & Dementia : The Journal of the Alzheimer's Association* 7 (3): 257–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2011.03.004.
- 64. Janelidze, Shorena, Erik Stomrud, Sebastian Palmqvist, Henrik Zetterberg, Danielle Van Westen, Andreas Jeromin, Linan Song, et al. 2016. 'Plasma β-Amyloid in Alzheimer's Disease and Vascular Disease'. *Scientific Reports* 6 (March): 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep26801.
- 65. Johnson, Katerina V.A., and Kevin R. Foster. 2018. 'Why Does the Microbiome Affect Behaviour?' *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 16 (10): 647–55. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-018-0014-3.
- 66. Johnston, G. R., and N. R. Webster. 2009. 'Cytokines and the Immunomodulatory Function of the Vagus Nerve'. *British Journal of Anaesthesia* 102 (4): 453–62. https://doi.org/10.1093/bja/aep037.
- 67. Kim, Ji Eun, Jin Ju Park, Mi Rim Lee, Jun Young Choi, Bo Ram Song, Ji Won Park, Mi Ju Kang, Hong Joo Son, Jin Tae Hong, and Dae Youn Hwang. 2019. 'Constipation in Tg2576 Mice Model for Alzheimer's Disease Associated with Dysregulation of Mechanism Involving the MAChR Signaling Pathway and ER Stress Response.' *PloS One* 14 (4): e0215205. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0215205.
- Kleinert, Maximilian, Christoffer Clemmensen, Susanna M. Hofmann, Mary C. Moore, Simone Renner, Stephen C. Woods, Peter Huypens, et al. 2018. 'Animal Models of Obesity and Diabetes Mellitus'. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology* 14 (3): 140–62. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2017.161.
- 69. Kowalski, Karol, Agata Mulak, and Key Words. 2019. 'Brain-Gut-Microbiota Axis in Alzheimer 's Disease' 25 (1).
- 70. L.M., Cox, and Weiner H.L. 2018. 'Microbiota Signaling Pathways That Influence Neurologic Disease'. Neurotherapeutics 15 (1): 135–45. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13311-017-0598-8 LK https://resolver.ebscohost.com/openurl?sid=EMBASE&sid=EMBASE&issn=187874 79&id=doi:10.1007%2Fs13311-017-0598-8&atitle=Microbiota+Signaling+Pathways+that+Influence+Neurologic+Disease&stitl

e=Neurotherapeutics&title=Neurotherapeutics&volume=15&issue=1&spage=135&e

page=145&aulast=Cox&aufirst=Laura+M.&auinit=L.M.&aufull=Cox+L.M.&coden= &isbn=&pages=135-145&date=2018&auinit1=L&auinitm=M.

- 71. Lee, Jinny Claire, Soo Jung Kim, Seungpyo Hong, and YoungSoo Kim. 2019.
 'Diagnosis of Alzheimer's Disease Utilizing Amyloid and Tau as Fluid Biomarkers'. *Experimental & Molecular Medicine* 51 (5): 53. https://doi.org/10.1038/s12276-019-0250-2.
- 72. Ley, Ruth E, Peter J Turnbaugh, Samuel Klein, and Jeffrey I Gordon. 2006. 'Human Gut Microbes Associated with Obesity'. *Nature* 444 (7122): 1022–23. https://doi.org/10.1038/4441022a.
- 73. Li, Rongzi, Yuxian Zhang, Suhail Rasool, Thangiah Geetha, and Jeganathan Ramesh Babu. 2019. 'Effects and Underlying Mechanisms of Bioactive Compounds on Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Alzheimer's Disease'. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity 2019: 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/8165707.
- 74. Li, Wei, Shannon L. Risacher, Sujuan Gao, Stephen L. Boehm, Jeffrey S. Elmendorf, and Andrew J. Saykin. 2018. 'Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Cerebrospinal Fluid Alzheimer's Disease Biomarker Amyloid B1-42 in Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative Participants'. *Alzheimer's and Dementia: Diagnosis, Assessment and Disease Monitoring* 10: 94–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dadm.2017.11.002.
- 75. Li, Xin-Yu, Liang Shen, and Hong-Fang Ji. 2019. 'Astragalus Alters Gut-Microbiota Composition in Type 2 Diabetes Mice: Clues to Its Pharmacology'. *Diabetes, Metabolic Syndrome and Obesity: Targets and Therapy* Volume 12: 771–78. https://doi.org/10.2147/dmso.s203239.
- 76. Lin, Li, Li Juan Zheng, and Long Jiang Zhang. 2018. 'Neuroinflammation, Gut Microbiome, and Alzheimer's Disease', no. July 2017: 8243–50.
- 77. Liu, Renzhong, Yong Han, Jing Du, Wei Yi, Ketao Jin, and Xiqun Zhu. 2017.
 'Microbiota-Gut-Brain Axis and the Central Nervous System'. *Oncotarget* 8 (32): 53829–38. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.17754.
- Zhanju, Anthony T. Cao, and Yingzi Cong. 2013. 'Microbiota Regulation of Inflammatory Bowel Disease and Colorectal Cancer'. *Seminars in Cancer Biology* 23 (6 PB): 543–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2013.09.002.
- 79. Lopes, Joana G., and Victor Sourjik. 2018. 'Chemotaxis of Escherichia Coli to Major Hormones and Polyamines Present in Human Gut'. *ISME Journal* 12 (11): 2736–47. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-018-0227-5.
- 80. Luca, Maria, Maurizio Di Mauro, Marco Di Mauro, and Antonina Luca. 2019. 'Gut

Microbiota in Alzheimer's Disease, Depression, and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: The Role of Oxidative Stress'. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity* 2019: 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/4730539.

- 81. Lyte, Mark, Wang Li, Noel Opitz, Ronald P.A. Gaykema, and Lisa E. Goehler. 2006. 'Induction of Anxiety-like Behavior in Mice during the Initial Stages of Infection with the Agent of Murine Colonic Hyperplasia Citrobacter Rodentium'. *Physiology and Behavior* 89 (3): 350–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2006.06.019.
- Ma, Donglai, Paul Forsythe, and John Bienenstock. 2004. 'Live Lactobacillus Reuteri Is Essential for the Inhibitory Effect on Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha-Induced Interleukin-8 Expression'. *Infection and Immunity* 72 (9): 5308–14. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.72.9.5308-5314.2004.
- 83. Maiese, Kenneth. 2019. 'Editor's Perspective Knowing When to Trust Your Gut: The Intimate Relationship Between Neurodegenerative Diseases and the Brain-Gut Axis' 16 (3): 1–2.
- 84. Manzanares, G, G Brito-da-Silva, and P G Gandra. 2018. 'Voluntary Wheel Running: Patterns and Physiological Effects in Mice.' *Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Research = Revista Brasileira de Pesquisas Medicas e Biologicas* 52 (1): e7830. https://doi.org/10.1590/1414-431X20187830.
- 85. Martin, Clair R., Vadim Osadchiy, Amir Kalani, and Emeran A. Mayer. 2018. 'The Brain-Gut-Microbiome Axis'. Cmgh 6 (2): 133–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcmgh.2018.04.003.
- 86. Mathay, Martin T., Kouichi Ito, Sridhar Boppana, Naoko Ito, Sudhir K. Yadav, John E. Mindur, Ankoor Patel, and Suhayl Dhib-Jalbut. 2017. 'Gut Dysbiosis Breaks Immunological Tolerance toward the Central Nervous System during Young Adulthood'. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 114 (44): E9318–27. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1615715114.
- Mayer, X Emeran A, Rob Knight, Sarkis K Mazmanian, X John F Cryan, and Kirsten Tillisch. 2014. 'Gut Microbes and the Brain : Paradigm Shift in Neuroscience' 34 (46): 15490–96. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3299-14.2014.
- McCrimmon, Rory J, Christopher M Ryan, and Brian M Frier. 2012. 'Diabetes and Cognitive Dysfunction.' *Lancet (London, England)* 379 (9833): 2291–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60360-2.
- 89. Mennini, Maurizio, Lamia Dahdah, Maria Cristina Artesani, Alessandro Fiocchi, and Alberto Martelli. 2017. 'Probiotics in Asthma and Allergy Prevention'. *Frontiers in*

Pediatrics 5 (July): 1-5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fped.2017.00165.

- 90. Moodley, K K, and D Chan. 2014. 'The Hippocampus in Neurodegenerative Disease.' *Frontiers of Neurology and Neuroscience* 34: 95–108. https://doi.org/10.1159/000356430.
- 91. Moy, S S, J J Nadler, A Perez, R P Barbaro, J M Johns, T R Magnuson, J Piven, and J N Crawley. 2004. 'Sociability and Preference for Social Novelty in Five Inbred Strains: An Approach to Assess Autistic-like Behavior in Mice.' *Genes, Brain, and Behavior* 3 (5): 287–302. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1601-1848.2004.00076.x.
- 92. Mroczko, Barbara, Magdalena Groblewska, Ala Litman-Zawadzka, Johannes Kornhuber, and Piotr Lewczuk. 2018. 'Amyloid β Oligomers (AβOs) in Alzheimer's Disease'. *Journal of Neural Transmission* 125 (2): 177–91. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00702-017-1820-x.
- 93. Nadler, J J, S S Moy, G Dold, D Trang, N Simmons, A Perez, N B Young, et al. 2004. 'Automated Apparatus for Quantitation of Social Approach Behaviors in Mice.' *Genes, Brain, and Behavior* 3 (5): 303–14. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1601-183X.2004.00071.x.
- 94. Nakamura, Yuta, Yoshio Nagai, Toshio Kobayashi, Kentaro Furukawa, Yoichi Oikawa, Akira Shimada, and Yasushi Tanaka. 2019. 'Characteristics of Gut Microbiota in Patients With Diabetes Determined by Data Mining Analysis of Terminal Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphisms'. *Journal of Clinical Medicine Research* 11 (6): 401–6. https://doi.org/10.14740/jocmr3791.
- 95. Newell, Christopher, Virginia L Johnsen, Nellie C Yee, Warren J Xu, Matthias S Klein, Aneal Khan, Jong M Rho, and Jane Shearer. 2017. 'Ketogenic Diet Leads to O-GlcNAc Modification in the BTBR(T+tf/j) Mouse Model of Autism.' *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta. Molecular Basis of Disease* 1863 (9): 2274–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2017.05.013.
- 96. Ochoa-Repáraz, Javier, and Lloyd H. Kasper. 2018. 'The Microbiome and Neurologic Disease: Past and Future of a 2-Way Interaction'. *Neurotherapeutics* 15 (1): 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13311-018-0604-9.
- 97. Ogrodnik, Mikolaj, Yi Zhu, Larissa G P Langhi, Tamar Tchkonia, Patrick Krüger, Edward Fielder, Stella Victorelli, et al. 2019. 'Obesity-Induced Cellular Senescence Drives Anxiety and Impairs Neurogenesis.' *Cell Metabolism* 29 (5): 1061-1077.e8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2018.12.008.
- 98. Ott, A, R P Stolk, F van Harskamp, H A P Pols, A Hofman, and M M B Breteler. 1999.
 'Diabetes Mellitus and the Risk of Dementia'. *Neurology* 53 (9): 1937 LP 1937.

https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.53.9.1937.

- 99. Puighermanal, Emma, Giovanni Marsicano, Arnau Busquets-Garcia, Beat Lutz, Rafael Maldonado, and Andrés Ozaita. 2009. 'Cannabinoid Modulation of Hippocampal Long-Term Memory Is Mediated by MTOR Signaling'. *Nature Neuroscience* 12 (9): 1152–58. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2369.
- Puzzo, Daniela, Walter Gulisano, Agostino Palmeri, and Ottavio Arancio. 2015.
 'Rodent Models for Alzheimer's Disease Drug Discovery.' *Expert Opinion on Drug Discovery* 10 (7): 703–11. https://doi.org/10.1517/17460441.2015.1041913.
- 101. Qin, Junjie, Yingrui Li, Zhiming Cai, Shenghui Li, Jianfeng Zhu, Fan Zhang, Suisha Liang, et al. 2012. 'A Metagenome-Wide Association Study of Gut Microbiota in Type 2 Diabetes'. *Nature* 490 (September): 55.
- 102. Quigley, Eamonn M.M. 2017. 'Microbiota-Brain-Gut Axis and Neurodegenerative Diseases'. *Current Neurology and Neuroscience Reports* 17 (12). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11910-017-0802-6.
- 103. Rajan, T M, and V Menon. 2017. 'Psychiatric Disorders and Obesity: A Review of Association Studies.' *Journal of Postgraduate Medicine* 63 (3): 182–90. https://doi.org/10.4103/jpgm.JPGM_712_16.
- Rajilić-Stojanović, Mirjana, Hauke Smidt, and Willem M. De Vos. 2007.
 'Diversity of the Human Gastrointestinal Tract Microbiology 9 (9): 2125–36. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2007.01369.x.
- 105. Rao, A Venket, Alison C Bested, Tracey M Beaulne, Martin A Katzman, Christina Iorio, John M Berardi, and Alan C Logan. 2009. 'A Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Pilot Study of a Probiotic in Emotional Symptoms of Chronic Fatigue Syndrome'. *Gut Pathogens* 1 (1): 6. https://doi.org/10.1186/1757-4749-1-6.
- 106. Ratto, Daniela, Mario Clerici, Paola Rossi, Anna Licito, Marcello Romeo, Alessandra Occhinegro, Carmine Iorio, and Francesca La Rosa. 2018. 'The Gut-Brain Axis in Alzheimer's Disease and Omega-3. A Critical Overview of Clinical Trials'. *Nutrients* 10 (9): 1267. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu10091267.
- 107. Reitz, Christiane, and Richard Mayeux. 2014. 'Alzheimer Disease: Epidemiology, Diagnostic Criteria, Risk Factors and Biomarkers'. *Biochemical Pharmacology* 88 (4): 640–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2013.12.024.
- 108. Rico, J. L., R. Bonuti, and S. Morato. 2019. 'The Elevated Gradient of Aversion: A New Apparatus to Study the Rat Behavior Dimensions of Anxiety, Fear, and
Impulsivity'. *Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Research* 52 (11): 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1590/1414-431x20198899.

- 109. Rieder, Ryan, Paul J. Wisniewski, Brandon L. Alderman, and Sara C. Campbell.
 2017. 'Microbes and Mental Health: A Review'. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity* 66: 9–
 17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2017.01.016.
- 110. Rodríguez-Gómez, Octavio, Adrián Rodrigo, Fátima Iradier, Miguel A. Santos-Santos, Hans Hundemer, Andreea Ciudin, Lena Sannemann, et al. 2019. 'The MOPEAD Project: Advancing Patient Engagement for the Detection of "Hidden" Undiagnosed Cases of Alzheimer's Disease in the Community'. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2019.02.003.
- 111. Roy Sarkar, Suparna, and Sugato Banerjee. 2019. 'Gut Microbiota in Neurodegenerative Disorders'. *Journal of Neuroimmunology* 328 (October 2018): 98– 104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2019.01.004.
- 112. Saha, Pampa, and Nilkantha Sen. 2019. 'Tauopathy: A Common Mechanism for Neurodegeneration and Brain Aging'. *Mechanisms of Ageing and Development*. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mad.2019.01.007.
- 113. Saito, Takashi, Yukio Matsuba, Naomi Mihira, Jiro Takano, Per Nilsson, Shigeyoshi Itohara, Nobuhisa Iwata, and Takaomi C Saido. 2014. 'Single App Knockin Mouse Models of Alzheimer's Disease.' *Nature Neuroscience* 17 (5): 661–63. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3697.
- Salas, Isabel H., and Bart De Strooper. 2018. 'Diabetes and Alzheimer's Disease: A Link Not as Simple as It Seems'. *Neurochemical Research* 0 (0): 0. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11064-018-2690-9.
- 115. Salazar, Nuria, Silvia Arboleya, Lorena Valdés, Catherine Stanton, Paul Ross, Lorena Ruiz, Miguel Gueimonde, and Clara G. de los Reyes-Gavilán. 2014. 'The Human Intestinal Microbiome at Extreme Ages of Life. Dietary Intervention as a Way to Counteract Alterations'. *Frontiers in Genetics* 5 (NOV): 1–9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2014.00406.
- Salminen, S., C. Bouley, M.-C. Boutron, J. H. Cummings, A. Franck, G. R. Gibson, E. Isolauri, M.-C. Moreau, M. Roberfroid, and I. Rowland. 1998. 'Functional Food Science and Gastrointestinal Physiology and Function'. *British Journal of Nutrition* 80 (S1): S147–71. https://doi.org/10.1079/BJN19980108.
- 117. Sarao, Loveleen Kaur, and M Arora. 2017. 'Probiotics, Prebiotics, and Microencapsulation: A Review.' *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition* 57

(2): 344-71. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408398.2014.887055.

- 118. Schwabe, Robert F, John W Wiley, Section Editors, Bruno L Bonaz, and Charles N Bernstein. 2013. 'AND PERSPECTIVES REVIEWS IN BASIC AND CLINICAL'. YGAST 144 (1): 36–49. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2012.10.003.
- 119.Seravalle, Gino, and Guido Grassi. 2017. 'Obesity and Hypertension.'PharmacologicalResearch122(August):1–7.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrs.2017.05.013.
- Serý, Omar, Jana Povová, Ivan Míšek, Lukáš Pešák, and Vladimir Janout. 2013.
 'Molecular Mechanisms of Neuropathological Changes in Alzheimer's Disease: A Review.' *Folia Neuropathologica* 51 (1): 1–9. https://doi.org/10.5114/fn.2013.34190.
- 121. Seward, T, B D Harfmann, K A Esser, and E A Schroder. 2018. 'Reinventing the Wheel: Comparison of Two Wheel Cage Styles for Assessing Mouse Voluntary Running Activity.' *Journal of Applied Physiology (Bethesda, Md. : 1985)* 124 (4): 923– 29. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00880.2017.
- 122. Shokryazdan, Parisa, Mohammad Faseleh Jahromi, Bahman Navidshad, and Juan Boo Liang. 2017. 'Effects of Prebiotics on Immune System and Cytokine Expression.' *Medical Microbiology and Immunology* 206 (1): 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00430-016-0481-y.
- 123. Silva, Marcos Vinícius Ferreira, Cristina de Mello Gomide Loures, Luan Carlos Vieira Alves, Leonardo Cruz de Souza, Karina Braga Gomes Borges, and Maria das Graças Carvalho. 2019. 'Alzheimer's Disease: Risk Factors and Potentially Protective Measures'. *Journal of Biomedical Science* 26 (1): 33. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12929-019-0524-y.
- Singh, Katyayani, Desirée Loreth, Bruno Pöttker, Kyra Hefti, Jürgen Innos, Kathrin Schwald, Heidi Hengstler, et al. 2018. 'Neuronal Growth and Behavioral Alterations in Mice Deficient for the Psychiatric Disease-Associated Negr1 Gene.' *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience* 11: 30. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnmol.2018.00030.
- 125. Sochocka, Marta, Katarzyna Zwolińska, and Jerzy Leszek. 2017. 'The Infectious Etiology of Alzheimer's Disease.' *Current Neuropharmacology* 15 (7): 996– 1009. https://doi.org/10.2174/1570159X15666170313122937.
- 126. Spires-Jones, Tara L., and Bradley T. Hyman. 2014. 'The Intersection of Amyloid Beta and Tau at Synapses in Alzheimer's Disease'. *Neuron*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2014.05.004.

- Stelzmann, Rainulf A., H. Norman Schnitzlein, and F. Reed Murtagh. 1995.
 'An English Translation of Alzheimer's 1907 Paper, "Über Eine Eigenartige Erkankung Der Hirnrinde". *Clinical Anatomy* 8 (6): 429–31. https://doi.org/10.1002/ca.980080612.
- 128. String, Lending, P F M Patron, Carmen Journal Title, Article Author, Article Title, Charge Maxcost, and I F M Shipping Address. 2010. '2010 Alzheimer's Disease Facts and Figures.' *Alzheimer's & Dementia : The Journal of the Alzheimer's Association* 6 (2): 158–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2010.01.009.
- Tai, Leon M, Deebika Balu, Evangelina Avila-Munoz, Laila Abdullah, Riya Thomas, Nicole Collins, Ana Carolina Valencia-Olvera, and Mary Jo LaDu. 2017.
 'EFAD Transgenic Mice as a Human APOE Relevant Preclinical Model of Alzheimer's Disease.' *Journal of Lipid Research* 58 (9): 1733–55. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.R076315.
- 130. Tanida, Mamoru, Toshihiko Yamano, Keiko Maeda, Nobuaki Okumura, Yoichi Fukushima, and Katsuya Nagai. 2005. 'Effects of Intraduodenal Injection of Lactobacillus Johnsonii La1 on Renal Sympathetic Nerve Activity and Blood Pressure in Urethane-Anesthetized Rats'. *Neuroscience Letters* 389 (2): 109–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2005.07.036.
- 131. Terry, Robert D. 2006. 'Alzheimer's Disease and the Aging Brain'. Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry and Neurology 19 (3): 125–28. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891988706291079.
- 132. Tible, Marion, François Mouton Liger, Julien Schmitt, Albert Giralt, Karim Farid, Sylvie Thomasseau, Sarah Gourmaud, et al. 2019. 'PKR Knockout in the 5xFAD Model of Alzheimer's Disease Reveals Beneficial Effects on Spatial Memory and Brain Lesions.' *Aging Cell* 18 (3): e12887. https://doi.org/10.1111/acel.12887.
- 133. Townsend, Kirk P., Terrence Town, Takashi Mori, Lih Fen Lue, Doug Shytle, Paul R. Sanberg, David Morgan, Francisco Fernandez, Richard A. Flavell, and Jun Tan. 2005. 'CD40 Signaling Regulates Innate and Adaptive Activation of Microglia in Response to Amyloid β-Peptide'. *European Journal of Immunology* 35 (3): 901–10. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.200425585.
- 134. Varatharaj, Aravinthan, and Ian Galea. 2017. 'The Blood-Brain Barrier in Systemic Inflammation'. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity* 60: 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2016.03.010.
- 135. Veitch, Dallas P, Michael W Weiner, Paul S Aisen, Laurel A Beckett, Nigel J

Cairns, Robert C Green, Danielle Harvey, et al. 2019. 'Understanding Disease Progression and Improving Alzheimer's Disease Clinical Trials: Recent Highlights from the Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative.' *Alzheimer's & Dementia : The Journal of the Alzheimer's Association* 15 (1): 106–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2018.08.005.

- 136. Veniaminova, Ekaterina, Margarita Oplatchikova, Lucien Bettendorff, Elena Kotenkova, Alexander Lysko, Ekaterina Vasilevskaya, Allan V Kalueff, et al. 2020. 'Prefrontal Cortex Inflammation and Liver Pathologies Accompany Cognitive and Motor Deficits Following Western Diet Consumption in Non-Obese Female Mice.' *Life Sciences* 241 (January): 117163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2019.117163.
- 137. Vogt, Nicholas M., Robert L. Kerby, Kimberly A. Dill-McFarland, Sandra J. Harding, Andrew P. Merluzzi, Sterling C. Johnson, Cynthia M. Carlsson, et al. 2017.
 'Gut Microbiome Alterations in Alzheimer's Disease'. *Scientific Reports* 7 (1): 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-13601-y.
- Wang, Hong Xing, and Yu Ping Wang. 2016. 'Gut Microbiota-Brain Axis'. *Chinese Medical Journal* 129 (19): 2373–80. https://doi.org/10.4103/0366-6999.190667.
- 139. Wang, Qingzhi, Jing Yuan, Zhanyang Yu, Li Lin, Yinghua Jiang, Zeyuan Cao, Pengwei Zhuang, et al. 2018. 'FGF21 Attenuates High-Fat Diet-Induced Cognitive Impairment via Metabolic Regulation and Anti-Inflammation of Obese Mice.' *Molecular Neurobiology* 55 (6): 4702–17. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-017-0663-7.
- 140. Webster, Scott J, Adam D Bachstetter, Peter T Nelson, Frederick A Schmitt, and Linda J Van Eldik. 2014. 'Using Mice to Model Alzheimer's Dementia: An Overview of the Clinical Disease and the Preclinical Behavioral Changes in 10 Mouse Models.' *Frontiers in Genetics* 5: 88. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2014.00088.
- Weller, Jason, and Andrew Budson. 2018. 'Current Understanding of Alzheimer's Disease Diagnosis and Treatment.' *F1000Research* 7. https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.14506.1.
- Westfall, Susan, Nikita Lomis, Imen Kahouli, Si Yuan Dia, Surya Pratap Singh, and Satya Prakash. 2017. 'Microbiome, Probiotics and Neurodegenerative Diseases: Deciphering the Gut Brain Axis'. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 74 (20): 3769–87. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-017-2550-9.
- 143. Whisner, Corrie M, and Luisa F Castillo. 2018. 'Prebiotics, Bone and Mineral Metabolism.' *Calcified Tissue International* 102 (4): 443–79.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00223-017-0339-3.

- 144. Wilkins, Heather M, and Russell H Swerdlow. 2016. 'Relationships Between Mitochondria and Neuroinflammation: Implications for Alzheimer's Disease.' *Current Topics in Medicinal Chemistry* 16 (8): 849–57. https://doi.org/10.2174/1568026615666150827095102.
- Wolf, Andrea, Björn Bauer, Erin L Abner, Tal Ashkenazy-Frolinger, and Anika M S Hartz. 2016. 'A Comprehensive Behavioral Test Battery to Assess Learning and Memory in 129S6/Tg2576 Mice.' *PloS One* 11 (1): e0147733. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0147733.
- 146. Wu, Hsin Jung, and Eric Wu. 2012. 'The Role of Gut Microbiota in Immune Homeostasis and Autoimmunity'. *Gut Microbes* 3 (1): 4–14. https://doi.org/10.4161/gmic.19320.
- Yang, Jie, Pingping Zhang, Yuheng Hu, Teng Liu, Jie Sun, and Xiaojing Wang.
 2019. 'Synthesis and Biological Evaluation of 3-Arylcoumarins as Potential Anti-Alzheimer's Disease Agents'. *Journal of Enzyme Inhibition and Medicinal Chemistry* 34 (1): 651–56. https://doi.org/10.1080/14756366.2019.1574297.
- 148. Yang, Mu, Danielle N Abrams, James Y Zhang, Michael D Weber, Adam M Katz, Andrew M Clarke, Jill L Silverman, and Jacqueline N Crawley. 2012. 'Low Sociability in BTBR T+tf/J Mice Is Independent of Partner Strain.' *Physiology & Behavior* 107 (5): 649–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.12.025.
- 149. Yin, Rong, Kai Yin, ZhiQiang Guo, ZhiQiang Zhang, LiPin Chen, Li Cao, YuanMin Li, YaXuan Wei, XueFeng Fu, and XiangQun Shi. 2016. 'Protective Effects of Colivelin Against Alzheimer's Disease in a PDAPP Mouse Model.' *Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry: International Journal of Experimental Cellular Physiology, Biochemistry, and Pharmacology* 38 (3): 1138–46. https://doi.org/10.1159/000443064.
- 150. Zhang, Le, Tina L Beckett, M Dana, Katharina Kohler, Kalavathi Dasuri, J Annadora, M Paul Murphy, and Jeffrey N Keller. 2019. 'AC PT SC'. *BBA - Molecular Basis of Disease*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2019.04.013.
- 151. Zhang, Ling, Ying Wang, Xia Xiayu, Changhua Shi, Wei Chen, Nan Song, Xinjing Fu, et al. 2017. 'Altered Gut Microbiota in a Mouse Model of Alzheimer's Disease.' *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease : JAD* 60 (4): 1241–57. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-170020.

VILNIUS UNIVERSITY

LIFE SCIENCES CENTER

INSTITUTE OF BIOCHEMISTRY

Ashwinipriyadarshini Megur

Master thesis

Targeting microbiota-gut-brain axis in Alzheimer's disease in a diet-induced obesity model in mice

SUMMARY

The concept of the microbiota-gut-brain axis, the bidirectional communication between gut and brain, has been supported by many experimental and clinical studies. Clinical observations showed that the intestinal microbiota profile is altered in many neurologic and psychiatric disorders and diseases including Parkinson's disease and AD have given rise to the hypothesis that a disordered microbiota (dysbiosis) is a pathogenetic factor in these pathologies.

To shed more light on the communication between the intestinal microbiota and the brain function, and to find bacterial strains of microbiota that can reduce inflammation and the development of AD in diabetic conditions a diet-induced obesity dysbiosis model was established in C57BL/6JRj mice. To validate diet-induced diabetes leading to AD models in mice we have characterized by assessment of emotional, affective, physical and cognitive behaviour. In addition, the administration of prebiotics was used for positive microbiota modulation. Male and female mice were fed for 9 months with HF food and prebiotics (FOS+GOS) dissolved in drinking water. Animal body weight was recorded and glucose tolerance test was conducted at the 9 month time for the confirmation of diabetes in mice. Also anxiety-like behaviour, cognition, social behaviour and physical activity were analysed.

HF diet already after two months significantly increased body weight of the mice, both males and females and impaired glucose tolerance after 9 months of diet. Prebiotic administration mitigated the HF diet negative impact. Whereas anxiety-like behaviour and long term memory weren't altered, but had a major impact on physical activity and sociability after 9 month with HF diet. In summary, these results suggest that nine months of HF diet is not sufficient that a diet-induced diabetes leads to an AD model in mice.

VILNIAUS UNIVERSITETAS GYVYBĖS MOKSLŲ CENTRAS BIOCHEMIJOS INSTITUTAS

Ashwinipriyadarshini Megur

Magistrinis darbas

Mikrobiotos-žarnyno-smegenų ryšio vaidmens Alzheimerio ligos eigoje tyrimas panaudojant mitybos indukuotą pelių nutukimo modelį

SANTRAUKA

Mikrobiotos-žarnyno-smegenų ryšys, tai dvikryptė sąveika tarp žarnyno ir smegenų, kuri buvo parodyta daugeliu eksperimentų ir klinikinių tyrimų. Klinikiniai stebėjimai atskleidė, kad žarnyno mikrobiotos sudėties profilis yra pakitęs daugelio neurologinių ir psichinių sutrikimų bei ligų, įskaitant Parkinsono ir Alzheimerio ligas, ir iškėlė hipotezę, kad sutrikdyta mikrobiota (disbiozė) yra šių patologijų patogenezinis veiksnys.

Norėdami sužinoti daugiau apie žarnyno mikrobiotos ir smegenų ryšį ir surasti mikrobiotos bakterijų kamienus, kurie galėtų sumažinti neuro-uždegiminius procesus ir Alzheimerio ligos vystymąsi esant diabetui, buvo panaudotas mitybos indukuotas C57BL/6JRj pelių nutukimo/diabeto modelis kaip kartu ir nutukimo sukelta disbiozė pelėms. Norėdami patvirtinti mitybos indukuotą diabetą, kuris vėliau sukeltų Alzheimerio ligą pelėms, buvo vertinama gyvūnų nerimo būsena, fizinis aktyvumas, atmintis ir socialumas. Be to, teigiamam mikrobiotos moduliavimui buvo naudojami prebiotikai. Pelių patinai ir patelės 9 mėnesius buvo maitinami daug riebalų turinčiu pašaru ir prebiotikais (FOS+GOS), ištirpintais geriamajame vandenyje. Reguliariai buvo registruojamas gyvūnų svoris ir atliktas gliukozės tolerancijos tyrimas, siekiant patvirtinti pelių diabetą, bei atlikti minėti gyvūnų elgesio testai.

Daug riebalų turintis pašaras jau po dviejų mėnesių žymiai padidino pelių, tiek patinų, tiek patelių, kūno svorį ir pablogino gliukozės toleranciją po 9 mėnesių dietos. Prebiotikų vartojimas sušvelnino neigiamą šio riebaus pašaro poveikį. Pelių nerimas ir ilgalaikė atmintis nepakito, tačiau turėjo didelę įtaką fiziniam jų aktyvumui ir socialumui po 9 mėnesių maitinimo su pašarais, turinčiais daug riebalų. Apibendrinant, šie rezultatai rodo, kad devynių mėnesių neužtenka, kad daug riebalų turinčio pašaro indukuotas diabetas pelėms taip pat skatintų ir Alzheimerio ligos vystymąsi.